
MEETING: CABINET 

DATE: Thursday 3rd February, 2022

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: Ballroom, Town Hall, Bootle

DECISION MAKER: CABINET

Councillor Ian Maher (Chair)
Councillor Atkinson
Councillor Cummins
Councillor Doyle
Councillor Fairclough
Councillor Hardy
Councillor Lappin
Councillor Moncur
Councillor Roscoe
Councillor Veidman

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Paul Fraser
Senior Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2068
E-mail: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk

The Cabinet is responsible for making what are known as Key Decisions, 
which will be notified on the Forward Plan.  Items marked with an * on the 
agenda involve Key Decisions
A key decision, as defined in the Council’s Constitution, is: -
● any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and 

Capital Programme approved by the Council and which requires a gross 
budget expenditure, saving or virement of more than £100,000 or more 
than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the greater

● any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact 
on a significant number of people living or working in two or more Wards

See overleaf for COVID Guidance and the 
requirements in relation to Public Attendance.
If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



COVID GUIDANCE IN RELATION TO PUBLIC ATTENDANCE

In light of ongoing Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, there is limited 

capacity for members of the press and public to be present in the meeting 

room indicated on the front page of the agenda at any one time.  We 

would ask parties remain in the meeting room solely for the duration of 

consideration of the Committee report(s)  to which their interests relate.

We therefore request that if you wish to attend the Committee to please 

register in advance of the meeting via email to paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk  

by no later than 12:00 (noon) the day before the day of the meeting.
 

Please include in your email –

 Your name;

 Your email address;

 Your Contact telephone number; and

 The details of the report in which you are interested.

In light of current social distancing requirements, access to the meeting 

room is limited.

We have been advised by Public Health that Members, officers and 
the public should carry out a lateral flow test before attending the 
meeting, and only attend if that test is negative. Provided you are not 
classed as exempt, it is requested that you wear a mask that covers 
both your nose and mouth.

mailto:paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk


A G E N D A
Items marked with an * involve key decisions

Item 
No.

Subject/Author(s) Wards Affected

 
 1 Apologies for Absence

 2 Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or personal 
interest arises, which is not already included in 
their Register of Members' Interests, to declare 
any interests that relate to an item on the 
agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, he/she must withdraw from 
the meeting room, including from the public 
gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to 
remain as a result of a grant of a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest 
he/she must seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or staff member representing the 
Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting 
room, including from the public gallery, during 
the whole consideration of any item of business 
in which he/she has an interest or whether the 
Member can remain in the meeting or remain in 
the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

 3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 
16)

Minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2022

* 4 St Teresa's Catholic Infant School - 
Outcome of Consultation

Ainsdale; Birkdale; 
Dukes; Kew

(Pages 17 - 
36)

Report of the Executive Director of Children's 
Social Care and Education

* 5 Sacred Heart Catholic Secondary School - 
Approval of Legal Documentation for 
Academy Conversion

All Wards (Pages 37 - 
42)

Report of the Executive Director of Children's 



Social Care and Education

* 6 Children and Young Peoples Sefton Pseudo 
Dynamic Purchasing System

All Wards (Pages 43 - 
50)

Report of the Executive Director of Children's 
Social Care and Education

 7 Sefton High Need Funding Allocation 
2022/23 Update

All Wards (Pages 51 - 
58)

Report of the Executive Director of Children's 
Social Care and Education

* 8 Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management Strategy and Business 
Plan

All Wards (Pages 59 - 
106)

Report of the Head of Operational In-House 
Services

* 9 Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - 
Business Plan

All Wards (Pages 107 - 
126)

Report of the Executive Director - Place

* 10 Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 
and Framework for Change 2020 - Revenue 
and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 
including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 
on the 2021/22 Budget - February Update

All Wards (Pages 127 - 
144)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services



THE “CALL-IN” PERIOD FOR THIS SET OF MINUTES ENDS AT 12 NOON ON 
WEDNESDAY 19 JANUARY 2022. MINUTE NO.S 86 AND 89 ARE NOT 
SUBJECT TO CALL- IN

84

CABINET

MEETING HELD AT THE BALL ROOM, TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

PRESENT: Councillor Ian Maher (in the Chair)
Councillors Atkinson, Lappin and Roscoe

80. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Cummins, Doyle, 
Fairclough, Hardy, Moncur and Veidman. 

It was noted that the above Members had submitted their apologies for 
absence to reduce the number of Members at the Cabinet meeting for 
safety reasons associated with the recent local increase in Covid-19 
cases. The minimum number of Cabinet Members were present to ensure 
that the meeting was quorate.   
 

81. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

82. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Decision Made:

That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 2 December 2021 be approved as 
a correct record.

83. HOLY SPIRIT CATHOLIC PRIMARY SCHOOL – APPROVAL OF 
LEGAL DOCUMENTATION FOR ACADEMY CONVERSION 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Education that informed 
of the decision by the Secretary of State for Education to convert Holy 
Spirit Catholic Primary School, to a sponsored academy in accordance 
with statutory requirements and which sought authorisation for officers to 
sign the documentation required to by the academy conversion process. 
The ESFA had indicated that the date of conversion would be 1 April 2022. 

Decision Made:

That:

(1) the statutory requirements regarding the Holy Spirit Catholic 
Primary School academy conversion be noted;

(2) the financial implications to the Council of the Holy Spirit Catholic 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

85

Primary School academy conversion be noted;

(3) the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services and the Interim Executive Director of Children’s Social 
Care and Education, in consultation with the Cabinet Member – 
Education, be authorised to complete the necessary agreements 
required as part of the academy conversion process as outlined in 
the report; and

(4) it be noted that the proposal was a Key Decision but had not been 
included in the Council's Forward Plan of Key Decisions.  
Consequently, the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding) had been consulted under Rule 27 of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules of the Constitution, to the decision 
being made by Cabinet as a matter of urgency on the basis that it 
was impracticable to defer the decision until the commencement of 
the next Forward Plan because the ESFA has notified the Council 
that the timescale for the conversion of Holy Spirit Catholic Primary 
School is 1 April 2022. Permission is required to complete the 
necessary agreements required as part of the academy conversion 
process in the short timescale available.

Reasons for the Decisions:

Cabinet needs to authorise appropriate officers to enter into the 
agreements required as part of the academy conversion process.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

No other options are available. The Secretary of State has the powers to 
direct that the academy conversion process can continue if the 
agreements are not signed.

84. TENDER - ARBORICULTURAL WORKS CONTRACT 2022 - 2027 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Operational In-House 
Services that sought approval to procure a new contract for arboricultural 
works, and to award the contract based on the lowest priced tender that 
met all pre-determined minimum quality requirements. 

Decision Made:

That:

(1) the procurement of a new contract for arboricultural works be 
approved;

(2) the basis for the evaluation of tenders received be approved; and

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

86

(3) authority be delegated to the Head of Operational In-House 
Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member – Health and 
Wellbeing, to award the contract upon completion of the 
procurement process.

Reasons for the Decisions:

The existing contract is due to expire on 31 May 2022. Establishing a 
replacement contract will provide the Council with sustainable 
arrangements for commissioning arboricultural work on a planned and 
responsive basis. It will avoid additional costs that are likely to be incurred 
from procuring such work on an ad-hoc basis and provide a service in 
response to emergencies or call-outs outside of normal office hours.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Not to replace the existing contract would result in arboricultural work 
having to be undertaken in an ad-hoc way, outside of a framework 
contract, which would result in increased costs and risks to service 
delivery.

85. BOOTLE LEVELLING UP FUNDING AND OTHER BID SUBMISSION 
FEEDBACK 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director (Place) that 
provided an update on the outcomes and feedback of the two Levelling Up 
funding bid submissions made in June 2021, along with further actions and 
recommendations for future rounds of Levelling Up funding; and on Arts 
Council England funding given recent expressions of interest and 
feedback, as well as on recent bids for Community Renewal funding, and 
People and Places Partnership funding. 

The Cabinet Member – Regeneration and Skills commended the 
Executive Director and his staff for their hard work in the preparation and 
submission of the Levelling Up funding bids and raised concerns about the 
categorisation of Sefton in the framework and decision, despite the content 
and quality of the bid.

Decision Made:

That:

(1) the outcomes and feedback outlined within the report be noted;

(2) the submission of up to three Levelling Up funding bids to 
Government, or pursuit in line with future process and guidance, 
when future funding rounds are announced be approved;

(3) approval be given to continue to promote to Government 
departments the importance of such funding opportunities to areas 
of Sefton that have not yet had such support, and to continue to 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

87

challenge Government’s categorisation of Sefton for Levelling Up 
funding at the lowest level of priority;

(4) the finalisation of the Levelling Up funding bid submissions be 
delegated to the Executive Director (Place), in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member - Regeneration and Skills;

(5) the pursuit of further opportunities for funding where aligned to the 
Council’s vision and core purpose be approved; and

(6) It be noted that any funded projects may require Cabinet and 
Council approval if successful and would be presented for review 
and approval if successful and at the appropriate time, in 
accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules.

Reasons for the Decisions:

Given the profile of the Levelling Up funding bid submissions made in June 
2021, and the importance of such projects to economic recovery in the 
borough, it is appropriate to ensure Cabinet visibility of outcomes, 
feedback, and proposed next steps. The same visibility is appropriate 
given outcomes and feedback on other bid submissions to various funding 
opportunities. If the requirement continues to proactively bid for funding 
opportunities as and where available, it is important that the Council 
understands key decision making criteria and captures feedback, good 
practice and lessons learned to ensure continuous improvement in bidding 
activity to maximise the likelihood of future bidding success for Sefton.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

The options of not capturing feedback and lessons learned, or of not 
submitting bids for future funding opportunities, are rejected given the 
importance of capturing all available funding opportunities to enable 
programme and project delivery in all areas.

86. SUSTAINABLE WARMTH FUNDING 2022-2023 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services advising that as part of a competitive 
bidding process co-ordinated through the Combined Authority, Sefton 
Council had been awarded £3,374,297 of grant funding to retrofit 307 
poorly insulated homes for low income Sefton residents; and that the 
funding had come from the Department of Business Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) as part of the government’s post Covid-19 response and 
supporting the UK Net Zero Carbon by 2050 target.

The report also sought approval to accept this funding to ensure that 
Sefton could benefit from almost £3.4 million, 100% grant funding. 
Spending this funding was time critical to ensure residents received the 
benefits and that no proportion of the funding was returned due to slippage 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

88

in delivery. The programme was due to be delivered between January 
2022 and 31 March 2023.

Due to the level of the grant funding, authority to accept the funding as 
well as secure permission to procure and award works was required from 
Council.

The funding was a continuation of the Green Homes Grant (GHG) Local 
Delivery Scheme (LAD) phase 2 but had been renamed as Sustainable 
Warmth.  

Decision Made:

That subject to Council approving a supplementary capital estimate of 
£2.89m fully funded by grant funding: 

(1) a supplementary revenue estimate of £0.5M fully funded by grant 
funding be approved;

(2) delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services, to sign the grant funding agreement with the Combined 
Authority;

(3) delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services, to enter into a 
delivery partner agreement with One Vision Housing to deliver 
improvements to 50 properties as part of the sustainable warmth 
funding programme; and

(4) delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services, to appoint a contractor via a direct award from a public 
procurement regulations compliant framework(s) or Dynamic 
Purchasing System and enter into the contract once the 
procurement process is completed in order to undertake the 
required works.

Reasons for the Decisions:

If this funding is not accepted, residents will not receive the investment 
required to improve their home, which is designed to reduce fuel poverty, 
reduce carbon emissions, support local jobs and improve the communities 
where these homes exist.

The £3,374,297 funding allocation is 100% grant and does not require any 
match funding from the Council and there is no risk of clawback of the 
funding if fully utilised.

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

89

Delegated responsibility has been requested to help to streamline the 
governance of the project whilst maintaining full accountability. Any 
funding that is not utilised within the timeframe of the scheme (end date 31 
March 2023) may be reallocated to other Local Authorities that are able to 
undertake the works in a timely manner.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Not to accept the funding – Rejected due to the loss of potential benefits to 
Sefton residents.

87. ELECTRICITY PROCUREMENT (CORPORATE PORTFOLIO) FOR THE 
PERIOD 01/04/2023 - 31/03/2028 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services that sought approval for the use of a 
Public Contracts Regulations compliant Framework (The Supply of Energy 
and Ancillary Services (RM6011)) and its scheduled replacement 
Framework on expiry of RM6011; and which indicate that this would be 
from 2023 under the Crown Commercial Service (CCS) Framework for a 
four plus one year period, in order to secure value for money, good 
customer service and maximise the Council’s Net Zero Carbon goals by 
2030.

Decision Made:

That:

(1) the selection of the Crown Commercial Services Public Contracts 
Regulations Compliant Framework to secure electricity supplies for 
all Council buildings, including schools and Street Lighting be 
approved; 

(2) approval be granted for Sefton Council join the CCS Electricity 
Supply Framework, with instruction to purchase electricity supplies 
on behalf of the Council for contracts commencing 1  April 2023 until 
31 March 2027 with the option to extend for a further year (to 31 
March 2028); 

(3) the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services, in consultation with Cabinet Member - Regulatory 
Compliance and Corporate Services, be granted delegated authority 
to sign all required documentation in relation to this process 
including Customer Access Agreements (CAA) and model contracts; 

(4) the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services, in consultation with Cabinet Member - Regulatory 
Compliance and Corporate Services, be granted delegated authority 
to approve any extension of the contract for an additional 12-month 
period (1 April 2027 – 31 March 2028); and 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

90

(5) authority be delegated to Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services, in consultation with Cabinet 
Member - Regulatory Compliance and Corporate Services, to 
approve purchasing decisions including annual 100% renewable or 
‘green’ energy options.

Reasons for the Decisions:

In order to comply with Procurement Rules, and due to the 12-18 month 
lead in times, it is necessary to plan for when the current arrangements 
expire on 31 March 2023. Acting now will establish a new electricity 
contract with a new supplier in timely manner to minimise risk in exposing 
the Council to default penalty rates beyond 31 March 2023, which would 
be at a significantly higher cost.

In order to manage the risk associated with a volatile energy market, 
Sefton Council utilise a central purchasing body, to ensure procurement of 
electricity is conducted by a well-regulated team of experts utilising an 
approved strategy. This approach ensures the authority are protected from 
the high market price peaks, through procurement over several months 
when prices are lower. 

This procurement exercise included a review of four of the largest central 
purchasing bodies (public sector buying organisations) and their 
associated electricity procurement frameworks.

The use of existing public sector framework contracts had been thoroughly 
investigated within the context of achieving maximum future business 
value and net zero carbon goals to the Council and partners on its 
contracts.

Crown Commercial Services were able to demonstrate purchasing 
strategies that are managed by a well-qualified team that would offer a 
well-managed, lower risk, yet flexible approach. Together with firm options 
for green energy to assist the Council and partners, should they choose, in 
realising Net Zero targets.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Option 1
Do nothing - Letting the contracts expire and go into to default rates would 
expose the council to significant financial risk. Therefore, this option was 
rejected.

Option 2
Conduct an in-house procurement exercise. The officer time involved in 
such a lengthy, above threshold procurement process is considered 
onerous and better directed towards actions in contributing to the Council’s 
Net zero carbon goals. Therefore, this option was rejected.

Option 3

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

91

Delay this decision - The lead time for making a change to the current 
electricity supply arrangements is significant, so any delay in making a 
decision would shorten the window for purchasing electricity in advance. 
This would reduce the Council’s options and increase the risk associated 
with market conditions during that time. Therefore, this option was 
rejected.

88. RE-TENDER OF THE COUNCILS CORPORATE INTERNET AND WIDE 
AREA NETWORK CONNECTIVITY PROVISION 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services that detailed the background to the 
Council’s current Corporate Internet and Wide Area Network connectivity 
contract, providing details of the current set up and also the proposed 
changes to the delivery model.  The report also detailed the associated 
procurement route required to make this change.

Decision Made:

That:

(1) the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services be authorised to conduct a procurement exercise for a 
new corporate internet and wide area network provision for a period 
of 5 years (with the option to extend for a further 2 years); and

(2) the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member - Regulatory, 
Compliance and Corporate Services, be granted delegated 
authority to award a Contract resulting from the procurement 
exercise and any extension to the contract.

Reasons for the Decisions:

To ensure that there is both a continued and suitable ICT core connectivity  
service in place to ensure that the Council has the means to provide 
internet connectivity, network connectivity, and secure remote access and 
also to take the opportunity to modernise and make improvements to the 
network in line with new technologies available and revised operating 
models.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

To continue with the current wide area network service supplied by Virgin 
Media however the Council would be acting outside Contract Procedure 
Rules and Public Contract Regulations due to the current contract ending 
in March 2023.  In addition, this would not allow the Council to take 
advantage of new opportunities and upgraded technologies now available 
in the marketplace such as the proposed, SD-WAN (Software Defined 
Wide Area Network).

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

92

89. COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME, COUNCIL TAX BASE 2022/23 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services that provided details of the review of 
the local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2021/22 and recommending 
that there was no change to the scheme for 2022/23 for working age 
claimants; and that provided an updated Council Tax Base for Sefton 
Council and each Parish area for 2022/23.

Decision Made:

That:

(1) the contents of the review of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
for the 
current financial year, 2021/22 be noted;

(2) it be recommended to Council that there are no changes to the 
existing Scheme for 2022/23 for working age claimants;  and

(3) It be recommended to Council the relevant Council Tax Base for 
Sefton Council and each Parish Area for 2022/23, as set out in 
Annex A of the report, be approved.

 Reasons for the Decisions:

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Each financial year, the Council must consider whether to revise or 
replace its local Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The Council must 
approve and adopt the 2022/23 Council Tax Reduction Scheme by 11 
March 2022, as set out in the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2017.

The report provides an update on key aspects of the local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme. After consideration of the factors outlined in the report 
it is proposed that the local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2022/23 
remains unchanged for working age claimants.

Council Tax Base

In accordance with Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England)
Regulations 2012, as amended, the Council is required to set a tax base 
for both Sefton Council and for each Parish Area for 2022/23 before 31st 
January 2022.

 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

93

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

The Council Tax Reduction Scheme was last revised in 2018/19 following 
a public consultation process. The changes introduced then continue to 
address the Council’s priorities to minimise the impact on vulnerable 
residents, by striking a balance between dealing with Council priorities. 
Ongoing monitoring and evaluation assess the impact of those changes to 
ensure that they remain fit for purpose.  No alternative options have been 
considered for 2022/23.

90. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 2021/22 TO 2024/25 AND FRAMEWORK 
FOR CHANGE 2020 - REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET UPDATE 
2021/22 INCLUDING THE FINANCIAL IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON THE 
2021/22 BUDGET - JANUARY UPDATE 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services that advised of:

(1) the current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 
Budget; 

(2) the current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget; 

(3) the current forecast on Council Tax and Business Rates 
collection for 2021/22; and

(4) the monitoring position of the Council’s capital programme to the 
end of November 2021 in respect of:

 the forecast expenditure to year end
variations against the approved budgets and an 
explanation of those variations for consideration by 
Members.

 updates to spending profiles and proposed amendments 
to capital budgets necessary to ensure the efficient 
delivery of capital projects are also presented for 
approval.

The Cabinet Member – Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Resources 
commended the Executive Director and his staff for their hard work in the 
preparation of the report and their on-going work on the Council’s budget.

Decision Made:

That:

(A) in respect of the Revenue Budget:

(1) the current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 
2021/22 Budget together with the key issues that will 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

94

influence the final position be noted; 

(2) the current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue 
budget be noted; 

(3) the financial risks associated with the delivery of the 
2021/22 revenue budget be recognised and it be 
acknowledged that the forecast outturn position will 
continue to be reviewed to ensure a balanced forecast 
outturn position and financial sustainability can be 
achieved; and 

(4) it be noted that the Government Workforce Recruitment 
and Retention Fund grant that has been received to help 
local authorities to bolster the dedicated care workforce 
and that £0.889m will be allocated to care providers in 
accordance with central government guidance, with the 
remaining £0.143m being approved as a Supplementary 
Revenue Estimate by the Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Health in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member – Adult Social Care and the Executive Director 
for Corporate Resources and Customer Services; and

(B) In respect of the Capital Programme:

(1) the spending profiles across financial years for the 
approved capital programme (paragraph 6.1) be noted; 

(2) the latest capital expenditure position as at 30 November 
2021 of £18.671m (paragraph 6.4); the latest full year 
forecast is £44.650m (paragraph 6.6) be noted; 

(3) the explanations of variances to project budgets 
(paragraph 6.7) be noted; and

(4) it be noted that the capital resources will be managed by 
the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services to ensure the capital programme 
remains fully funded and that capital funding 
arrangements secure the maximum financial benefit to 
the Council (paragraph 6.11).

 Reasons for the Decisions:

To ensure Cabinet are informed of the current position in relation to the 
2021/22 revenue budget, including COVID19 pressures and additional 
funding being made available to the Council.   

To provide an updated forecast of the outturn position with regard to the 
collection of Council Tax and Business Rates.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 6TH JANUARY, 2022

95

To keep members informed of the progress of the Capital Programme 
against the profiled budget for 2021/22 and agreed allocations for future 
years. 

To progress any changes that are required in order to maintain a relevant 
and accurate budget profile necessary for effective monitoring of the 
Capital Programme.

To approve any updates to funding resources so that they can be applied 
to capital schemes in the delivery of the Council’s overall capital strategy.

 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Not applicable.

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: Thursday 3 
February 2022

Subject: St Teresa's Catholic Infant School - Outcome of Consultation

Report of: Head of Education Wards Affected: Birkdale and 
adjoining wards 
where pupils reside

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Education

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

Stage One of the consultation process has now been completed following the request 
from the Governing Body of St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School that the Council begin the 
formal process to close the school as they confirmed that they have exhausted all 
options to address the pupil numbers and financial situation at the school. 

Recommendation(s):

(1) That the contents of the report are noted

(2) Members agree to proceed to publication of the statutory notice to close the school 
with effect from 31st August 2022

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Local Authority has the power to consider all options including closing a maintained 
school following the statutory process detailed in the report. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Alternative options have been explored by the governing body with support from Officers 
prior to the governing body making their request.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



The financial deficit at 31st March 2022 is projected as -£134,500 and the deficit position
at the 31st August 2022 is expected to be higher than this because of closure costs
identified in paragraph 3.3. However, some of these are unknown currently and further 
work will be needed to identify these costs. There is also the potential for some pro rata
DSG school formula funding allocation to offset the final deficit position.

There will also be a loss of funding for Education functions to maintained schools (£500),
the loss of Traded Service income (£34,450) and reductions to the amounts de-
delegated funding towards specific central functions (£3,100).

The Council has sufficient provision assigned to cover the closing deficit, however losses
in income from Traded Services will need to be met from with appropriate Service
Department budgets. The overall financial position of the school will be carefully
monitored up to the point of closure and will be reported to members when this is known.
This will be a more financially favourable option for the council than the school remaining
open and the deficit increasing which will have an impact on the overall Council finances.

(B) Capital Costs
N/A

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
Staff from Corporate Finance and Corporate Personnel together with Business Support
have continued to provide support to the Governors and Leadership Team of St
Teresa’s Infant School over the last 18 months

Legal Implications:
Any proposal to close the school will follow the requirements of the School Organisation
(Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) Regulation 2013 and statutory
guidance.

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Y
Have a neutral impact N
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The school building is not being used to its full capacity and heating and lighting are still 
required for a small number of staff and pupils. This proposal will mean less use of 
energy and will also impact on car use in the area.

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: All children will still be able to attend a Catholic school.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: All children will be able to attend the 
school which they would normally move to in KS2. (This school is an infant school).

Commission, broker and provide core services: All children will be able to attend a 
Catholic school in the catchment area.

Place – leadership and influencer: N/A

Drivers of change and reform: N/A

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: N/A

Greater income for social investment: N/A

Cleaner Greener: N/A

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6662/22) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4862/22) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Stage One consultation on the proposal has taken place in accordance with statutory 
requirements. As part of the consultation process meetings were held with governors, 
parents of pupils and staff in the school and their trade union representatives.
 
Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Tricia Davies/Marie Stevenson
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3428/3427
Email Address: Tricia.davies@sefton.gov.uk/marie.stevenson@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Annex A Consultation Leaflet – St Teresa’s 
Annex B. Draft Statutory Notice and Complete Proposal

Background Papers:

Opening and closing maintained schools: statutory guidance for proposers and decision 
makers, November 2019, Department for Education. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The background to this consultation was detailed in the report to Cabinet dated 4th 
November 2021.

1.2 Cabinet agreed to begin the formal consultation process on the closure of St 
Teresa’s Catholic Infant School.

2. Consultation Process

2.1 In accordance with Section 16(3) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 a 
proposer of a school closure must have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State. The following bodies and individuals were consulted:

Parents/carers of pupils at St Teresa’s Infant School
Parents of pupils who had applied for places at the school at the start of the 
consultation period
Staff at St Teresa’s Infant School
Governing body of St Teresa’s Infant School
Trade Union Representatives
Sefton schools
Ward Councillors
Directors of neighbouring local authorities
Local MP
Archdiocese of Liverpool
General consultation invites on Sefton’s website

2.2 Letters and a copy of the consultation document at Annex A were sent to all 
bodies and individuals listed above. The consultation also consisted of meetings 
with staff, governors, and parents/carers, and provided the opportunity for 
discussion and written representation.

Page 20

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools


2.3 During the consultation process applications were made by parents for 13 pupils 
to move to other schools as of 1st January 2022, leaving two children in the 
school.

3. Outcome of the consultation

3.1 The Stage One consultation period ran from 22nd November 2021 until 17th 
December 2021.

3.2 Consultation meetings were held with staff, governors, and parents/carers on the 
evening of 30th November 2021. The Head of Education explained the 
background to the consultation and opportunities were given for staff, governors, 
and parents to ask questions. These were mainly about the next steps in the 
process and what support would be given to governors and staff should the 
closure go ahead. Three parents and one of the Birkdale ward Councillors 
attended the parents meeting. Several parents had already arranged for places at 
alternative schools for their children and when the meeting took place there were 
only two pupils remaining. Concern was expressed that parents were under the 
impression that the decision to close had already been made.  

3.3 Responses to the consultation

Sefton’s Head of Education received a letter from Lancashire’s Interim Director of 
Education which acknowledged the receipt of Sefton’s consultation letter dated 
19th November and noted that the consultation period ended on 17th December.

There were no other responses received during the consultation period.

4. Financial Position

4.1 St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School has been struggling financially for several years 
and the Governing Body has worked hard to reduce costs but have unfortunately 
not been able to set a balanced budget since 2018/19.

4.2 The school ended the 2020/21 financial year with a deficit of -£55,316 and 
although the Governing Body has made several staffing adjustments in August 
2021 the current budget shows the deficit rising to -£134,466 by the end of the 
current financial year.

4.3 There will continue to be staffing and running costs in 2022/23, if the school 
continues to operate until 31st August 2022. When the school closes there will be 
closure costs associated with the discontinuation of the site along with any 
potential contractual liabilities that are still outstanding and severance costs for 
displaced staff. Many of these costs are unknown at this time but will add to the 
identified deficit position at 31st March 2022. There may be some residual School 
funding from 2022/23 to offset some of the additional costs but, again, this cannot 
be calculated at this time.

4.4 Maintained schools pay a contribution from their delegated budget each year to 
the Local Authority towards the costs of meeting its statutory education functions 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



and central services to maintained schools. The amount St Teresa’s currently 
pays for this is £3,600 and this income will be lost when the school closes.

4.5 St Teresa’s Infant School also buys into many traded services from the Council 
which will cease when the school closes and this will mean a further reduction in 
income to the Council of approximately £34,500.

5. Pupil Places

5.1 St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School has 90 places and there were 15 pupils on roll 
at the time of the School Census in October 2021 which meant they had 83.3% 
surplus places. However, once the consultation for closure was announced 
parents started to make enquiries about moving their children to other schools.

6. Statutory Notice

6.1 If Cabinet wish to proceed with the next stage of the proposal a copy of the 
statutory notice and detailed proposal will be published. A copy of this is attached 
at Annex B. 

6.2 Following publication of this notice, subject to Cabinet approval, there will be a 
four-week statutory period for representations to be made which will be 
considered at a future Cabinet.

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



 

  
 

 

1 
 

  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Proposal for the closure of  
St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School  
 

This leaflet provides background information about the proposal for the closure of St Teresa’s 
Catholic Infant School. It also answers some of the questions that parents, carers, pupils and 
members of the wider community might want to know.  
 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



 

  
 

 

2 
 

Introduction 
Sefton Council wishes to seek the views of interested parties regarding the 
proposal for Sefton Council to close St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School as at 
31st August 2022.  
 
Background 
St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School is a single form of entry school with a 
published admission number of 30 situated at Everton Road in Birkdale.  
The school is voluntary aided.  
 
Demand for places at St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School has been falling for 
several years. The Governors of St Teresa’s have explored all avenues to 
increase pupil numbers and reduce financial issues at the school. However, 
this has not resulted in an increase in demand for places. At a meeting on 
the 4th November 2021 the Council’s Cabinet agreed to proceed with the 
request from the Governing Body of St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School to 
commence the statutory consultation process.  
 
It is extremely important to note that no definitive decision has yet 
been made about the future of the school.    
 
The chart below outlines the four-stage statutory process that the local 
authority must adhere to when making decisions concerning the potential 
closure or significant changes to schools. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



 

  
 

 

3 
 

 
Stage 1 Consultation  

22nd November 2021 – 17th December 
2021 

This is the start of the process when 
the Local Authority provides 
information about what is being 
proposed and gathers the views of 
interested parties to help them develop 
the proposals.   

Stage 2 Publication – 2nd March 2022 A legal notice is published in the local 
paper (usually the Champion) and on 
the Council website which sets out 
brief details of the proposal and where 
more information can be found.  It also 
gives details of where objections and 
comments can be sent and the closing 
date for these.  It marks the start of the 
representation period or formal 
consultation. 

Stage 3 Representation  
2nd March – 30th March 2022 

This is a four-week period from the 
date the notice is published to allow 
interested parties the final opportunity 
to send objections and comments to be 
taken into consideration by the 
decision maker.  It is classed as the 
formal part of the consultation process. 

Stage 4 Decision 
Cabinet to make final decision – May 
2022 

All the objections and comments 
gathered during the representation 
period are provided to the decision 
maker to enable them to make the final 
decision. 

 
 
 
There will be a consultation period which will run from 22nd November 2021 
– 17th December 2021. 
 
As part of the consultation process for the proposal, we will be holding 
meetings with staff, governors, and parents/carers of pupils at the school.  It 
is important that we hear the views and opinions of as many people as 
possible.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



 

  
 

 

4 
 

 
Date and Time of Meetings: 
 
Meetings have been arranged to provide an opportunity for interested parties 
to make their views known. 
 
St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School 
Meetings for parents will be held on 30th November 2021 at 6pm at the 
school to enable as many parents to attend as possible.  
 
A meeting for staff will be held at 4pm and governors at 5pm on 30th 
November 2021. 
 
Alternatively, if you are unable to attend the meeting, you may wish to 
comment on the proposal by sending an email to: 
school.organisation@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Information will also be provided on the School Organisation page on Sefton 
Council’s website at https://www.sefton.gov.uk/schools-learning/school-
organisation/ 
 
Parents and Staff Voice 
The formal consultation process will provide parents and staff with the 
opportunity to respond to the proposal. 
 
All parents and staff are actively encouraged to give their views during the 
consultation period. 
 
 
Other Consultees 
Other organisations who must be consulted will be written to as part of the 
process and be invited to submit their views. 
 
Subject to the outcome of the consultation process, the Local Authority 
intends to publish a statutory notice setting out the proposals for St Teresa’s 
Catholic Infant School. It is the Local Authority’s intention to publish this 
notice in the local newspapers during March 2022, and this will be followed 
by a four-week representation period – during the period all interested 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/schools-learning/school-organisation/
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/schools-learning/school-organisation/


 

  
 

 

5 
 

parties will be invited to make their representations and comments in writing.  
At the end of the four-week period, the matter will be considered by the 
Council’s Cabinet, who will make the final decision on the proposal. 
 
Reasons for the Proposal 
 
Pupil Numbers at St Teresa’s 

• Pupil numbers have been falling at St Teresa’s for several years and 
this trend is likely to continue for the foreseeable future.  The school 
had 83% surplus places in October 2021 when the last school census 
was undertaken.  

 
School Finances at St Teresa’s 

• School finances are highly dependent on pupil numbers for their 
funding and as pupil numbers fall schools are unable to maintain 
staffing levels and the funding available to support each pupil is 
reduced. This compromises the ability to provide the best education for 
pupils attending the school. 

• There is a projected financial deficit of -£134,500 at 31st March 2022.  

• The governors and senior leadership have worked extremely hard to 
reduce costs and find savings but are now at a stage where they are 
unable to address the increasing deficit.  As a result, the school is not 
financially viable for the longer term.   
 
 

The following questions are based on previous school organisation 
proposals and the type of information and support that parents/carers, 
pupils, governors, staff, unions and the wider community might want to 
know. 
 
Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 
 

Q1 
Who has responsibility for the school? 
St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School is a voluntary aided school maintained by 
the local authority. It is run by a governing body, the majority of which are 
appointed by the Archdiocese of Liverpool.  They are responsible for the 

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



 

  
 

 

6 
 

overall management of the schools within the statutory framework set out in 
current legislation. 
 
Q2 
Why is the Council involved? 
Voluntary aided schools are maintained by the local authority and receive 
their revenue funding from them. Legislation sets out that local authorities 
are under a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient school places in 
their area, promote high educational standards, ensure fair access to 
educational opportunity and promote the fulfilment of every child’s 
educational potential.  To help them meet these duties and restructure local 
provision they have the power to close all categories of maintained schools.  
This involves following a statutory process to consult on any closure and 
expansion proposals.  Ultimately the Council is the decision-maker on these 
proposals. 
 
Q3 
When will the closure take place? 
If the proposal to close is agreed St Teresa’s would close with effect from 
31st August 2022.  
 
The closure of schools is governed by the School Organisation 
(Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) Regulations 2013. The 
proposals at this stage are still subject to consultation and the statutory 
publication process. 
 
Q4 
If St Teresa’s does close, what will happen to the pupils? 
If the proposal to close St Teresa’s is approved, parents of current pupils are 
able to apply to alternative schools in the area and the local authority will put 
arrangements in place to enable parents to do this. Parents of pupils who 
have named the school as a preference for Reception 2022 entry will be 
contacted with further information on changing their school preferences.  
 
 
Q5 
How would you ensure the continuance of a good quality education for 
all pupils? 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



 

  
 

 

7 
 

The governors and staff at the school, in partnership with both the local 
authority and the Archdiocese, would ensure the standards of education 
were maintained throughout the process with no adverse impact on pupils at 
the school.  
 

Q6 
Are there any alternatives to closure proposals? 
The point of the consultation is to seek the views of others who may have an 
alternative view. All viable options will be considered before a decision is 
made. 
 
Q7 
Can a plan be proposed to prevent the school from closing? 
Yes – we are currently in consultation and any proposals can be considered.  
If there is a proposal that would prevent the school from closing it should be 
presented to the Governing Body for them to consider in the first instance.  
For any plan to be seriously considered it would need to establish, in a 
sustainable way, an approach to setting a balanced budget. 
 
Q8 
What will happen to the school staff? 
All staff will continue to deliver quality teaching and support to pupils. If the 
decision is taken to close the school, the Local Authority and Archdiocese of 
Liverpool will provide dedicated support and guidance to help them find 
alternative employment. 
 
Q9 
What will happen to the governing body if the result of the consultation 
is to close St Teresa’s? 
If the decision is made to close the school on 31 August 2022 the governing 
body would remain in place and continue to manage the school until the 
school closed. Support would be provided by both the local authority and the 
Archdiocese to the governing body throughout the process. 
 
 
Q10 
What will happen to the school site and premises if the school closes? 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



 

  
 

 

8 
 

The school buildings and their footprint are owned by the Archdiocese.  No 
decision has yet been made about the future of the school site. 
 

 
Q11 
My child has Special Education Needs, (SEN) and the school is 
receiving extra funding from the Local Authority to support their needs. 
Will my child continue to receive this support if we move to another 
school? 
Yes.  Any additional funding received by the school to meet the SEN of a 
pupil would transfer to their new setting to support their transition and help 
them settle into their new environment. This funding would then continue to 
be monitored and reviewed in the usual way. 
 
The staff at St Teresa’s would ensure that any information regarding the 
SEN of pupils is shared with their potential new school so that transition 
planning can take place. Parents of pupils with SEN will be included in this 
process. 
 

If you would like to speak to a member of the Special Education Needs and 
Inclusion Service, they can be contacted at: 
SENIS@sefton.gov.uk or 0151 934 2347. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 4

mailto:SENIS@sefton.gov.uk


 

  
 

 

9 
 

Please tell us what you think about the proposal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
You can return the form with your comments to the School Organisation Team, School Support 
Services, Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle, L20 7AE or return to the Headteacher at St Teresa’s 
Catholic Infant School. You can also comment by email to school.organisation@sefton.gov.uk  

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Proposal to close St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School

St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School, Everton Road, Southport PR8 4BT

Notice is hereby given in accordance with Section 15(1) of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 that Sefton Council intends to discontinue St Teresa’s Catholic 
Infant School, Everton Road, Southport PR8 4BT on 31st August 2022.

Pupils presently attending St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School will, if their parents 
wish, transfer automatically to Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary School at the 
closure of their school or, in appropriate cases be offered places at other Catholic 
Primary Schools in accordance with parental preference. Admissions may also be 
sought at other schools where places are available.

This notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete 
proposal can be obtained from School Organisation Team, Sefton Council, Town 
Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 7AE or at www.sefton.gov.uk/stteresas

Within four weeks of the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object 
to or make comments on this proposal by sending them to the School Organisation 
Team, Sefton Council, Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 7AE.

The last date for representations is 5pm on 30th March 2022.

Signed:

D Johnson, Chief Executive and Authorised Officer of Sefton Metropolitan Borough 
Council

Publication Date:2nd March 2022

Page 33

Agenda Item 4

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/stteresas


2

Contact Details

Sefton Council, Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 7AE is publishing the proposal to 
discontinue St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School, Everton Road, Southport PR8 4BT. 

Implementation Date

St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School will be closed with effect from 31st August 2022. 

Reason for closure

Pupil numbers have been falling for several years at St Teresa’s and this trend is 
likely to continue for the foreseeable future. The school had 83.3% surplus places in 
October 2021.

A consultation was originally carried out in 2019 on the proposal to close St Teresa’s 
Catholic Infant School and expand the provision at Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic 
Primary School. The consultation ran from 21st October to 6th December 2019. 

A range of comments were made during the consultation process but there were 
very few responses in favour of the proposal to close St Teresa’s Catholic Infants 
School and expand Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary School. There was a great 
deal of passion from parents and staff of St Teresa’s for the school to remain open 
either as a school in its’ own right or as part of Our Lady of Lourdes. There was also 
a great deal of passion from parents and staff of Our Lady of Lourdes who felt that 
the proposal would be detrimental to their school and would put jobs, finances and 
school standards at risk.

Given the significant level of opposition from staff, parents, and governors for the 
proposal to close St Teresa’s and extend provision at Our Lady of Lourdes, the 
recommendation was that the proposal be changed to the closure of St Teresa’s 
Catholic Infant School. 

At the Cabinet meeting held on the 5th March 2020, Members agreed to allow St 
Teresa’s Governors’ further time to provide an alternative financial proposal based 
on a half form entry from Reception to Year 2. This was presented to Cabinet on 30 
July 2020 by the Governing Body who appealed to Cabinet to allow the school to 
remain open and to operate under a Licensed Deficit Budget Agreement. The 
Governing Body explained that they had been working hard to develop a robust 
financial plan but the situation with COVID 19 had meant that they had been unable 
to promote themselves as much as they would have liked. Members agreed to allow 
the Governing Body more time to provide a financial plan that provided assurance 
that the school was viable going forward.

The Local Authority has held termly monitoring meetings to review the financial plan 
submitted to Members with the Governors and Leadership Team of the school.

The Governing Body came forward in October 2021 and having exhausted all 
options to address the pupil numbers and financial situation requested that the 
Council considered beginning formal consultation to close St Teresa’s Catholic Infant 
School. This was approved by Cabinet on 4th November 2021 and stage one of the 
consultation process took place from 22nd November until 17th December 2021.

Page 34

Agenda Item 4



3

Pupil numbers and admissions

St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School has a planned admission number (PAN) of 30. 
The following table shows pupil numbers at the school since January 2010.

Year Rec Y1 Y2 Total
January 2010 30 30 29 89
January 2011 30 30 28 88
January 2012 30 30 29 89
January 2013 30 30 29 89
January 2014 27 29 31 87
January 2015 30 28 26 84
January 2016 30 31 30 91
January 2017 26 29 28 83
January 2018 20 21 25 66
January 2019 18 17 22 57
January 2020 17 13 18 48
January 2021 6 7 11 24
October 2021 2 6 7 15

Source: School Census Returns

The school also has a nursery and there were 5 pupils on roll as at October 2021 
School Census.

Births in the Southport area have reduced by 25.6% since 2009/10.

Birth Year Entry into Reception Births in Southport
2008/09 2013/14 898
2009/10 2014/15 942
2010/11 2015/16 917
2011/12 2016/17 903
2012/13 2017/18 893
2013/14 2018/19 878
2014/15 2019/20 856
2015/16 2020/21 817
2016/17 2021/22 848
2017/18 2022/23 801
2018/19 2023/24 722
2019/20 2024/25 701

Displaced pupils

Pupils presently attending St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School will, if their parents 
wish, transfer automatically to Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary School at the 
closure of their school or, in appropriate cases be offered places at other Catholic 
Primary Schools in accordance with parental preference. Admission may also be 
sought at other schools where places are available. The school has no existing 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



4

specialist provision that is recognised by the local authority as reserved for pupils 
with special educational needs, and the school is not a special school. 

Impact on the community

This proposal will remove 90 infant places. St Teresa’s is the sister school of Our 
Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary and is already part of the Our Lady of Lourdes 
community as pupils from St Teresa’s move into KS2 at Our Lady of Lourdes. This 
should minimise the impact on the community.

The building is owned by the Archdiocese of Liverpool and no decision has been 
made about what will happen to this once the school has closed. It will be their 
responsibility to decide how the building will be used in future.

Balance of denominational provision

The closure of St Teresa’s Catholic Infant School would mean that 90 infant places 
would be removed from the Catholic sector. There are three other Catholic primary 
schools in the Southport area with a total 420 infant places between them including 
Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary, St Patrick’s Catholic Primary and Holy Family 
Catholic Primary. There are sufficient places available at Our Lady of Lourdes to 
accommodate pupils who will be displaced by this proposal. This includes those 
pupils whose parents have expressed a preference for a place in Reception in 
September 2022.

Travel

Where a primary pupil needs to travel more than 2 miles to their nearest qualifying 
school or is eligible under the extended rights criteria for low income families, the 
Local Authority has a duty to provide free transport usually by way of a travel pass 
which will mitigate against increased car use.

Any new application for home to school transport will be assessed using the 
standard national home to school distance and income eligibility criteria taking into 
account that St Teresa’s should no longer be considered as a qualifying school for 
the purposes of transport. Pupils with SEND who have an education health and care 
plan will have their transport needs individually assessed.

Procedure for responses

Within four weeks of the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object 
to or make comments on this proposal by sending them to the School Organisation 
Team, Sefton Council, Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 7AE. 

The last date for representations is 5pm on 30th March 2022.

Page 36

Agenda Item 4



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 3 February 2022

Subject: Sacred Heart Catholic Secondary School – Approval of Legal 
Documentation for Academy Conversion

Report of: Head of Education Wards Affected: All

Cabinet Portfolio: Education

Is this a Key 
Decision?

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

To inform Cabinet of the decision by the Secretary of State for Education to 
convert Sacred Heart Catholic High School, to the Pope Francis Multi Academy 
Trust in accordance with statutory requirements and seek authorisation for officers 
to sign the documentation required to by the academy conversion process. The 
ESFA has indicated that the date of conversion has still to be confirmed but the 
earliest this will be 1st April 2022 although this seems likely to slip by due to 
consultation process / completion of conversion documentation.

Recommendation(s): That the Cabinet is requested to:

1) Note the statutory requirements regarding academy conversion
2) Note the financial implications to the Council of the academy conversion
3) Authorise appropriate officers, the Executive Director of Corporate Resources 

and Customer Services and the Interim Executive Director of Children’s Social 
Care and Education in consultation with the Cabinet Member to complete the 
necessary agreements required as part of the academy conversion process 
as outlined in the report.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):
4) Cabinet needs to authorise appropriate officers to enter into the agreements 

required as part of the academy conversion process.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

No other options are available. The Secretary of State has the powers to direct 
that the academy conversion process can continue if the agreements are not 
signed.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
There will be financial implications to the Council from the conversion of the 
school to an academy. These have been highlighted in more detail later in 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



the report under paragraph 3 but will include the loss of funding for Education 
functions and specific central functions to maintained schools, the loss of 
Traded Service income. Any losses in income from Traded Services will need 
to be met from with appropriate Service Department budgets. The overall 
financial position of the school will be carefully monitored up to conversion.

(B) Capital Costs N/A

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
Upon conversion to an Academy, staff within the school will transfer under Transfer of 
Undertakings Protection of Employment Regulations 2006 (“TUPE”) to the new Multi 
Academy Trust. As a voluntary aided school under the Archdiocese that school and 
Governing Body are the current employer and employment will move for those 
employees to the Multi Academy Trust with protections under that legislation.

The is understood from the Archdiocese that the Multi Academy Trust will form its 
own collective bargaining structures and not continue to utilise Human Resources 
professional advice or HR Transactional services such as payroll from Sefton MBC.

The academy conversion will also see the transfer of all school land over to the Multi-
Academy Trust from Sefton Council via a lease agreement for 125 years.

Legal Implications: The conversion of schools to academies is a statutory 
process under the Academies Act 2010.

As the school is eligible for intervention under sections 61 and 62 of the 2006 
Education and Inspections Act, the Secretary of State for Education under Section 
4 of the Academies Act 2010 (as amended by the Education and Adoption Act 
2016) is required to an issue Academy Order. The Order provides that on the 
conversion date, the school in question shall become an academy and shall cease 
to be maintained by the Local Authority.

The governing body and the local authority are also under a duty to take all 
reasonable steps to facilitate the making of academy arrangements with a sponsor, 
once determined (section 5B of the Academies Act 2010, as amended by the 
Education and Adoption Act 2016).

The principal issues in relation to conversion are transfer of Staff, transfer of Land and 
transfer of Assets and Contracts. These issues will be addressed in two documents 
for the conversion- a Commercial Transfer Agreement and a Lease Agreement.

Equality Implications: There are no equality implications. 
Climate Emergency Implications:

Page 38

Agenda Item 5



The recommendations within this report will 

Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: this will ensure that there is Catholic provision for the 
most vulnerable secondary aged pupils in Crosby and the South Sefton area.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: continue to provide Catholic education 
for secondary aged pupils in Crosby and the South Sefton area

Commission, broker and provide core services:  Catholic education for secondary 
aged pupils

Place – leadership and influencer: N/A

Drivers of change and reform: N/A

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: N/A

Greater income for social investment: N/A

Cleaner Greener: N/A

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director Corporate Resources & Customer Services (FD.6674/22) and 
Head of Regulation and Compliance (LD.4874/22) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

As part of the process the school will consult with staff and trade unions.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Tricia Davies
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3428
Email Address: tricia.davies@sefton.gov.uk

Page 39

Agenda Item 5

mailto:tricia.davies@sefton.gov.uk


Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

Academy Order made further to section 4(A1) of the Academies Act 2010 (22 July 2016)

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Sacred Heart Catholic High School was judged inadequate at its last inspection. 
As the school is eligible for intervention under sections 61 and 62 of the 2006 
Education and Inspections Act, the Secretary of State for Education, under 
Section 4 of the Academies Act 2010 (as amended by the Education and 
Adoption Act 2016), is required to an issue Academy Order. The Order provides 
that on the conversion date, the school in question shall become an academy 
and shall cease to be maintained by the Local Authority.

1.2 Since this school was judged inadequate the Local Authority has exercised its 
statutory duty to intervene and develop an action plan to support improvement 
in the school.

2. Academy Conversion Process

2.1 The process for schools converting to academies is legislated for under the 
Academies Act 2010 (as amended) which states that the Secretary of State 
is required to make an Academy order in respect of a maintained school in 
England if the school is eligible for intervention (within the meaning of Part 4 
of EIA 2006). Sacred Heart Catholic High School by virtue of the inspection 
outcome falls within this category. As part of the process the Regional 
Schools Commissioner has chosen a sponsor for the school. The Governing 
Body of the school and the local authority both have a statutory duty to 
facilitate the academy conversion.

2.2 The Academies Act 2010 contains specific powers for the Secretary of State in 
respect of the land of the schools when they were maintained schools. It is 
intended that the transfer of publicly funded land owned by the local authority 
to the Academy will usually be by way of a 125-year lease.

2.3 Lease will be drawn up to comply with the above requirements and to ensure 
there are no undue risks to the authority and that any usage rights etc are 
preserved. The lease transfers the responsibility for the operation and 
management of the land and buildings to the Pope Francis Multi Academy Trust 
sponsoring the school.

Commercial Transfer Agreement

2.4 This document is designed to ensure that all information on the staff who are 
transferring to the academy is recorded and transferred to the Academy Trust, 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



so that the appropriate arrangements for payment of salaries, pension 
contributions, etc. can be made. It also includes details of any assets or 
contracts that will transfer to the Academy Trust and of those that will not.

2.5 A Commercial Transfer Agreement, which is an agreement between the school 
governing body, the local authority, and the academy trust, will be drawn up. 
Officers will ensure that all appropriate responsibilities and liabilities are 
transferred to the Academy Trusts to ensure there are no undue risks to the 
authority.

Assignment or novation of contracts

2.6 This forms part of the Commercial Transfer Agreement and covers agreements 
and contractual arrangements which will need to transfer to the Academy Trust.

2.7 Specific contracts and arrangements in respect of the converting school have 
been identified.

TUPE Process

2.8 The Employees within the School are employed by the Governing Body who 
are responsible for the movement of employees from the School which is 
converting to the new Multi Academy Trust.

2.9 TUPE consultation will need to be undertaken as part of the process. The 
Governing Body as the Employer of the employees within the School are 
responsible for this along with the Multi Academy Trust. Consultation with the 
Council’s trade unions will also be necessary in respect of any effects of the 
TUPE transfer to Council employees.

2.10 By virtue of TUPE, there is a legal obligation to provide written information 
about the transfer to employee representatives. The information which the 
current employer must give in writing to employee representatives (which will 
be trade union representatives):

 The fact that the transfer is to take place, when and why.

 The "legal, economic and social implications" of the transfer for the 
affected employees.

 The "measures" which the employer envisages it will take in 
connection with the transfer or, if no measures are envisaged, that fact; 
and

 Any measures which the employer envisages the Academy Trust 
taking in connection with the transfer in respect of the transferring 
employees or, if no measures are envisaged, that fact.

2.11 By virtue of TUPE terms and conditions of employment should be protected in 
accordance with the legislation.  The Multi Academy Trust will be required to 
provide full details to the Governing body to allow meaningful consultation.

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



2.12 No specific timescale is provided for consultation, but it must be meaningful 
with legal penalties and remedies in respect of consultation if it does not take 
place as required. 

2.13 By virtue of TUPE terms and conditions should be protected. The contractual 
documentation should address this.  Pension issues should also be 
addressed accordingly in the process between the Governing Body and Multi 
Academy Trust.

3.0 Financial Implications

3.1 The potential financial implications to the Council because of the Academy 
conversions are listed below:

3.2 Maintained schools pay a contribution from their delegated budget each year 
to the Local Authority towards the costs of meeting its statutory education 
functions and central support functions for maintained schools. Academies 
can purchase certain school support services from whoever they choose. The 
amount Sacred Heart currently pays for this support is £19,400

3.3 Sacred Heart currently buys into many traded services from the Council. The 
MAT has already stated that they will not be buying into central support 
functions such as HR and Finance however it is not known at this time what 
other traded services may be at risk. 

3.4 As the Academy Order is being made by the Secretary of State, any financial 
deficit at the point of conversion remains with the Council and does not 
transfer to the Multi Academy Trust. Sacred Heart currently has a small 
positive revenue balance and so there is no financial liability, to pick up any 
deficit balance, by the Council at the point of conversion.

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: Thursday 03 
February 2022

Subject: Children and Young Peoples Sefton Pseudo Dynamic 
Purchasing System

Report of: Executive Director 
of Children's Social 
Care and Education

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Children's Social Care

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to establish a commissioning and 
procurement approach for purchasing services for children and young people who are 
assessed as requiring residential care or a fostering placement. This will enable Sefton 
to have greater oversight of the local provider market and work collaboratively and to 
ensure sufficiency and quality of provision.

The procurement is being undertaken by Sefton Council under the ‘light touch regime’ for 
social and other services as listed at Schedule 3 of the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 and will result in the establishment and growth of provision in Sefton to meet the 
needs of local children and young people. 

The current commissioning arrangement established within the Liverpool City Region 
(LCR) and regional purchasing systems will continue to be utilised as a contingency as 
required in relation to the access of available and suitable residential and fostering 
placements following the establishment of the Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing 
System (PDPS). 

Recommendation(s):

(1) Approve the commencement of a commissioning and procurement exercise by 
Sefton Council the provision of residential care and fostering placements for the 
children and young people of Sefton, including those with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities as outlined in this report.

(2) Following the procurement exercise, approve the establishment of the 
purchasing approach for individual placements. This will include ensuring value 
for money services and support such as emergency provision, therapeutic wrap 
around support linked to evidenced need and the future development and 
consolidation of local provider partnerships within the Borough

(3) Delegate decisions regarding the procurement exercise which includes  
evaluation criteria, service specifications and contracted terms to the Executive 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



Director of Children’s Social Care and Education and to the Executive Director 
of Adult Social Care and Health  in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Social Care, based upon advice from procurement and legal 
colleagues to ensure such decisions are in line with the Councils Contract 
Procedure Rules and current procurement legislation/guidance. Such decisions 
will be made in advance of the commencement of any procurement exercises. 

(4) Delegate authorisation of contracts called off the Sefton Pseudo Dynamic 
Purchasing System to the Director of Children’s Services and in alignment with 
the scheme of delegation and the Councils Constitution. To ensure effective 
governance regular reports on expenditure will be made available to the Cabinet 
Member Children’s Social Care.   

(5) Where   there may be an impact on Adult Social Care budgets due to the 
transition of young people into Adult Social Care authorisation will be sought 
from the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health. 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

(1) The Commissioning Strategy and Market Position Statement for Children and 
Young People in Sefton was approved by Cabinet in January 2020 and included 
the need to encourage and develop the closer working relationships with local 
providers who can demonstrate good quality and value for money

(2) The Joint Commissioning Strategy for Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) 2020-2023 was agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board in March 2020 
which included the improvement of the local offer so that the experiences of 
children and young people with SEND and their carers and families received 
joined up services which were easy to navigate, accessible and available

(3) The market in Sefton has reached a point of significant concern which is mirrored 
nationally and regionally with the need to improve if not radically change its 
current purchasing and commissioning approach to improve outcomes for children 
and young people, improve the quality and safety of services and to reduce costs

(4) The current market approach is over reliant on the response of the regional 
purchasing arrangements and LCR Purchasing System which due to escalating 
demand and insufficient responsive capacity has led to increased costs and 
concern in relation to the quality of provision, placement of children and young 
people outside of the borough and variable outcomes for Sefton Children and 
Young People 

(5) The development of a Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing system would enable 
the growth provision within Sefton which would focus on outcomes, would be 
more cost effective and responsive and would enable a partnership approach with 
providers

(6) The Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System would enable a stronger 
commissioning grip on quality and cost and would support the introduction of 
social value with a focus on local provision for local children with the continuation 

Page 44

Agenda Item 6



of the regional purchasing systems and LCR Partnership Agreement as and when 
required

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

(1) Maintaining the Status Quo- this was not considered a viable option due to the 
lack of current market capacity and escalating costs associated to the current use 
of the regional and LCR  Purchasing Systems which is the only option currently for 
the Children and Young People of Sefton

(2) There are increasing cost pressures and placement of children at distance which   
contravenes statutory requirements and good practice guidance

     
(3) The Local Purchasing System will enable the collection of local placement data     
      and intelligence which can be utilised to develop and strengthen a local 

commissioner and provider relationship with a clear line of sight to Sefton Children 
and Young People and associated costs 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A)Revenue Costs
There are no additional costs associated to the establishment of a Sefton Pseudo 
Dynamic Purchasing System. It is possible that through the local market approach there 
will be an opportunity to negotiate and influence a lower market rate based on robust 
provider relationships and through put of supply linked to demand for providers who are 
committed to Sefton. 

(B)Capital Costs
There are no capital costs associated with this report.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The commissioning and procurement of the Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing 
System will require procurement and commissioning staffing resource and financial 
capacity to support the modelling of spend and activity when advising in relation to 
potential cost reduction and efficiencies.

Legal Implications:
The commissioning and procurement of the Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing 
System will be undertaken in accord with Council processes and current legislative 
guidance with regards to such purchasing systems. 

Equality Implications:
The equality implications will be assessed as the procurement and commissioning is 
progressed and any changes are made to provision. The Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Social Care will be kept informed of all equality implications, risks and mitigation.
Climate Emergency Implications:
The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:
A stable home improves the life chances of children and young people
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
Stable homes for children and young people with strong local social networks and 
education strengthens communities and builds resilience and community capacity
Commission, broker and provide core services:
The Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System will ensure sufficient capacity within 
the local market of Sefton which will offer value for money, good quality and promote 
excellent outcomes for Children and Young People. The Council as to respond to the 
sufficiency challenges and develop innovative local partnership arrangements with 
providers to:

 Reduce costs
 Improve quality
 Support planned placements 
 Support step down from residential and avoid drift 
 Place the child at the centre of the commissioning approach to ensure that 

their voice is shapes future service developments based on lived experience
Place – leadership and influencer:
The Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System will promote diversity of provision 
within local communities and at place strengthening the wrap around support for 
children and young people to reduce risks and improve outcomes. The approach will 
enhance early help opportunities at place, wrapping the team of professionals and 
voluntary, faith and community support around the child to enhance their life chances 
as they prepare for adulthood
Drivers of change and reform:
The Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System based on its innovative approach of 
shaping local provision for local children in Sefton will inform a unique menu of 
support throughout the child’s journey
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
The approach will foster local provision with local staff enhancing employment 
opportunities and encouraging the fundamental principles of social value
Greater income for social investment: 
The Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System will potentially increase investment 
opportunities by working in partnership with providers based on a whole system 
approach with statutory partners, schools, colleges and the local Voluntary, Faith and 
Community Sector in Sefton.
Cleaner Greener
Not Applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6659/22.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4859/22.) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

There has been engagement with the Clinical Commissioning Groups. A Market warming 
Event with providers was undertaken on the 12th of January 2022.

Contact Officer: Carol Cater
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3614
Email Address: carol.cater@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no Appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers to this report

Introduction/Background

1.1 Children’s Services nationally have been under pressure for more than a decade as 
a result of rising numbers of children being taken into care, more complex needs, 
austerity cuts to local authority budgets and deepening levels of poverty that have left 
many families struggling to cope. Private provision is playing an increasing role in the 
fostering and residential care market with escalating costs and an increasingly fragile 
position in relation to the financial health of some providers. The sufficiency of 
markets to meet demand as ever-increasing concern with issues in relation to quality, 
instability of placements and drift as alternative ‘move on’ and step-down support 
from residential to fostering is unable to respond.

1.2 The challenges highlighted by the national context are evident within the local context 
of Sefton and the wider Liverpool City Region. There are 621 children in Sefton who 
are looked after, with 70 children in residential homes and 137 children placed with 
Independent Fostering Agencies, which makes Sefton a national outlier.  

1.3 The challenges in Sefton are further compounded by the fact that Sefton is an 
importer of children which has had a significant impact on the ability to place Sefton 
children in Sefton homes. There are currently 25 private residential providers 
operating in Sefton with a total bed capacity of 103. There are 25 Sefton children 
placed in the borough with 57 children placed outside of the borough. 

1.4 The internal care homes are not currently in operation due to quality concerns and 
regulatory issues and the internal fostering service is subject to improvement which 
increases the dependency on the private provision.

1.5 The associated cost of external residential and fostering care is high. The residential 
budget is currently £11.472 million with a forecast spend as of the 31st December 
2021 of £12.97 million, a £1.498 million projected overspend. The Independent 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



Fostering budget is £5.097 million with an actual spend of £3.816 million, a forecast 
of £5.100 million.

1.6 The market position in relation to sufficiency and quality is further compounded by a 
lack of emergency provision and an increased risk in relation to unregulated services. 
Section 22G of the Children Act 1989 requires Local Authorities to secure sufficient 
accommodation for children in care that meets their needs and is within the local 
area wherever this is reasonably practicable which is a sufficiency duty that Sefton is 
not currently able to meet.

1.7 Therefore, there is a need to improve the current purchasing and commissioning 
approach to improve outcomes for children and young people, improve the quality 
and safety of services and to reduce cost. The current market is over reliant on the 
responsiveness of the Regional and Liverpool City Region purchasing systems. The 
regional arrangements are based upon a collaboration of 23 local authorities and 
within the LCR Provider Partnership Agreement (PPA) six local authorities of which 
Sefton is one, with Wirral as the Host. The competition for placements in a shrinking 
market has led to an over reliance on transactional searching for individual 
placements and a lack of direct provider engagement with limited focus on building 
market relationships. 

1.8 Subsequently, the consideration of the development of a combined local 
arrangement based on a partnership approach with both residential providers and 
independent fostering agencies is a priority. Such an approach would enable a more 
collaborative provider, commissioner relationship to inform a local market offer which 
would focus on outcomes for children, would be cost effective and would enable the 
collective provider led approach to support the step down from residential to 
fostering, thereby mitigating the risk of drift.

1.9 Strengthening commissioning oversight and management of the market in addition to 
the recommendation to establish a Sefton approach to procurement through a new 
purchasing system would enable a local grip on quality and cost. It would also enable 
the introduction of social value with a focus on local provision for local children. As 
identified in the National Procurement Strategy 2015 building strong relationships 
with social care providers is an important facet of good social care procurement, not 
least because it is a crucial factor in fostering innovation. 

1.10 The core commissioning outcomes the 3 Year Local Framework would be looking 
to achieve are:

 Local Homes for local Children and Young People
 Through co-design ensuring services reflect the voice of children and young 

people in the specifications, key performance indicators and outcomes.
 Effective market management and improvement of the relationship with 

providers to build a more collaborative approach and subsequent shaping 
of new and alternative models of support based on principles of co-design.

 Improve quality through the consistent application of a local quality 
assurance framework

 Increase local placement choice

Page 48

Agenda Item 6



 Services will be developed to meet individual need with a commitment to 
supporting step down and shape the growth of semi-independent residential 
placements.

 Social Value with providers committed to promoting local skills and 
employment, sustainable and local business growth, healthier, safer and 
resilient communities, promoting and enabling innovation, fair and ethical 
employment practice.

Procurement 

2.1 The use of a Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System will enable the awarding 
of contracts in a way that best supports the needs of the child, ensuring that 
provision is safe, sustainable and offers value for money. It is anticipated that the 
Framework will be established in June 2022.

2.2 The Sefton Pseudo DPS will be advertised through the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 under the Light Touch approach and providers will be evaluated 
based upon their ability to work in a collaborative way with commissioners, a quality 
score, and understanding cost and social value. 

2.3 Individual Contracts called off the Sefton Pseudo DPS will be based upon an 
individual service agreement which will outline the needs of the child and detail the 
service to be delivered. 

2.4 Contracts will be awarded for a minimum period of 5 years, and regular reviews will 
be required to support ongoing provision, beyond this, based upon the needs of the 
child and continuity of support.

2.5 Calls offs will be enabled based upon a set of needs led, risk approaches around 
the child either via a mini competition to providers on the Sefton Pseudo DPS or a 
direct award where this is deemed the best option to meet the child’s needs.

 
2.6 Authorisation of contracts called off will be undertaken in line with the Council’s 

scheme of delegation, however it is recognised that in some cases the value of 
contracts will exceed thresholds and therefore delegated responsibility is sought 
from Cabinet to authorise the Executive Director and/or Head of Service based 
upon the value of the contract to authorise these contracts. Special provision for 
Children’s residential rehab placements as referred to in 1.10.2 of the Contract 
Procedure Rules is in place, however this delegation seeks to extend this provision 
as above for any external foster or residential placements which are commonly 
above threshold. Such placements are often required in a timely manner and as 
directed through court processes and so the ability to bring these cases through 
cabinet on each occasion could delay the council meeting its statutory 
responsibilities and being held accountable by the court. To ensure effective 
governance regular reports on expenditure will be made available to the Cabinet 
Member Children’s Social Care. Where there will be a longer-term impact on Adult 
Social Care in relation the transition of the young person at 18 years old then the 
Executive Director of Adult Social Care will be consulted.

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



Conclusion 

3.1   Cabinet is asked to approve the recommendations in this paper and the approach to 
establishing  a local purchasing arrangement for Sefton, which will enable a more 
collaborative and closer partnership with providers to support children and young 
people in Sefton to live their best lives and be supported to remain in Sefton and 
establish a successful and flourishing future in the Borough.      

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 3 February 2022

Subject: Sefton High Need Funding Allocation 2022/23 Update

Report of: Head of 
Education 
Excellence

Wards Affected: All

Cabinet Portfolio: Education

Is this a Key 
Decision?

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

To inform Cabinet of the confirmed High Needs Funding Block allocation for 2022/23 
which were announced by the DfE on 16th December 2021 as part of the Dedicated 
Schools Grant settlement for 2022/23. Some extra funding in 2022/23 for Schools and 
High Needs (£1.6bn) was announced in the Chancellor’s Spending Review and 
Autumn Budget in late October, and further guidance on the allocation of this 
additional funding has also been received by Local Authorities in December 2021.

Recommendation(s): 
That Cabinet is requested to:

1) Note the estimated Outturn position for High Need Block 2021/22 and the 
projected accumulated High Needs deficit

2)  Note the confirmed High Needs Block funding allocation for 2022/23
3) Note the additional Supplementary Grant funding allocation to support High 

Needs pressures in 2022/23
.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Provide Cabinet with update on the estimated Outturn position 2021/22 and revised 
funding allocation for 2022/23 for Sefton’s DSG - High Needs Block.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

No other options are available.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
All financial implications are contained within the report and will be reflected in 
the forthcoming Budget report that will be presented to Council in March 2022

(B) Capital Costs
Page 51

Agenda Item 7



N/A

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
All implications are detailed in the report

Legal Implications: 

Equality Implications: There are no equality implications. 
Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 

Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 

(Please give a brief description of how the proposals set out in the report contribute 
towards the following Council’s Core Purpose. Insert ‘not applicable’ where required and 
remove this text) 

Protect the most vulnerable:  allows a Sefton wide focus on educational support for 
children with SEND

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Proposals allow greater localised control 
and focus on the SEND requirements of the borough of Sefton in the review and 
delivery of SEND Specialist Education Placements and Support Services

Commission, broker and provide core services: Proposals strengthen the role of 
Strategic SEN Commissioning at a Sefton borough level and encourages greater 
collaboration with in-house SEND Settings for better outcomes for children

Place – leadership and influencer: Proposals set out the road map for greater local 
control of SEN demand / provision by the Council

Drivers of change and reform: : Proposals allow for a Sefton wide focus on educational 
inequalities in provision for children with SEND

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Proposals allow for a broader financial 
focus on the borough of Sefton for education SEN support

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



Greater income for social investment: Proposals allow for a broader financial focus on 
the borough of Sefton for education SEN support

Cleaner Greener: The creation of more local in-house SEN provision should reduce 
SEND home to children’s transport journeys and so reduce carbon emissions

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6693/22) and 
the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD 4892/22) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Tricia Davies
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3428
Email Address: tricia.davies@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

Council Report - High Needs Funding Update January 2022

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The 2022/23 Dedicated Schools Grant Funding Allocations were included as 
part of the Government’s National Funding announcements in the Summer of 
2019 in support of Schools and High Needs. The 3-year funding package 
promised an additional investment totalling £7.1bn between 2020/21 and 
2022/23, against the 2019/20 baselines. The funding settlement included: 
£2.6bn in 2020/21 (incl £780m for High Needs); £2.2bn in 2021/22 (incl £730m 
for High Needs); and £2.3bn (incl £780m for High Needs) in 2022/23.

1.2 The 2022/23 Dedicated Schools Grant settlement was confirmed on 16 
December 2021 and is based on four main funding blocks; Schools; Central 
School Services; High Needs and Early Years. This is in line with Department 
for Education (DfE) announcements regarding 2022/23 funding guidance 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7

mailto:tricia.davies@sefton.gov.uk


issued in Mid July 2021.

1.3 Some additional funding in 2022/23 for Schools and High Needs (£1.6bn 
nationally) was announced in the Chancellor’s Spending Review and Autumn 
Budget in late October 2021.

1.4 In December, the Government announced that, of the additional £1.6bn funding 
announced in the Spending Review; £0.325bn was being allocated to High 
Needs Block, with the balance; £1.275bn going to schools, of which 
approximately £400m of this would be towards the 1.25% employers National 
Insurance increase from April 2022, announced in the Summer, to compensate 
for the new levy on National Insurance, which is going towards Social care and 
Health Service increases. All schools will also be expected to fund any agreed 
pay awards from this funding in 2022/23.

2. Forecast High Needs Outturn for 2021/22 as at November 2021

2.1 The High Needs budget overspent in 2020/21 by £2.815m taking the Deficit 
Balance brought forward on High Needs to a level of £8.249m-this is the highest 
this balance has been. This was due mainly to growing expenditure against SEN 
Support top up awards to mainstream schools across Pre and Post 16; and in 
sending Children and Young People with SEND to more expensive out of 
Borough Special School placements. These areas are, and continue to be, the 
focus of the High Needs review. Despite the additional funding in 2021/22 and 
extra support from schools, it remains well below the level of forecast spending. 
The current forecast overspend is estimated to be between £2.9m (current 
forecast) and £3.2m this year

2.2 Sefton’s High Needs budgets have been under severe pressure over the last 
seven years and as stated have been forecast to overspend by nearly £3m in 
2021/22, despite significant increased levels of funding in 2021 and £0.430m 
contributions from Schools. This will increase the deficit on High Needs centrally 
retained balances, to a level in excess of £11m by the end of the year.

2.3 Key areas of the forecast £2.9m overspend against current budgets this year are 
shown in the table below

High Needs Expenditure areas Forecast 2021/22 + 
Deficit/ (-) Underspend

Primary Mainstream School Top 
Ups

0.318m

Primary Resourced Unit Top Ups 0.098m
Secondary Mainstream School 
Top Ups

0.580m

Special provision - Non-
Maintained Special Day Schools 
Out of Borough

1.456m

Page 54

Agenda Item 7



Maintained Special School Places 
and Top Ups

0.841m

Post 16 (19-24) Top Up costs 0.107m
Outreach -0.108m
High Needs SEN Support Teams -0.582m
Mid-Year change to HN Funding 
for increases to 
IMPORT/EXPORT numbers 

0.186m

Other net variations -0.008m

Total Forecast Overspending 
2021/22

2.888m

Brought forward HN DSG 
Deficit from 2020/21

8.249m

Forecast C/FWD HN Deficit to 
2022/23

11.137m

2.4 The Local Authority will have to prepare a 3-5-year recovery plan to the DfE with 
an explanation of actions being taken to reduce this deficit and consequently 
deliver the service within the annual resources made available. As reported to 
Council in January 2022, a comprehensive review of High Needs spending 
continues to evolve and progress will be reported quarterly to Cabinet, however 
this is moving quite slowly at present, and whilst some changes may be expected 
in the coming year, as agreed by Council, this may see increased costs to High 
Needs, as a result of the proposed right sizing of school budgets and new 
methods of allocating funding to the Special Schools

3. Sefton’s 2022/23 High Needs Funding Allocation

3.1 The increase in funding to Sefton’s High Needs Block, before any deductions 
by the DfE for directly funded institutions, but including Import/Export 
adjustments for students; and the element for Teachers Pay and Pension 
funding in Special Schools and the Pupil Referral Units is £3.495m in 2022/23. 
This represents a +9.71% increase on the equivalent funding for 2021/22.

3.2 The High Needs element of the additional £0.325bn funding has already been 
determined, and announced in December, with Sefton getting an additional 
£1.478m within its Block allocation in 2022/23 over and above the normal 
increase promised as part of the Government’s 3-year funding programme to 
2022/23.

3.3 The total funding increase to High Needs from both funding streams totals 
£4.973m (+13.83%). This overall increase will be smaller however, once 
deductions are made for the direct payment for places at Independent / Non-
Maintained special schools and Colleges of FE by the ESFA (£-0.738m).

3.4 In addition, High Needs will not be receiving any further support from the 
Schools Block in 2022/23, which will further reduce the available funding next 
year, by £-0.430m. The overall new increase will, however, help towards 
meeting the ongoing budget pressures across High Needs in 2022/23, which 
is still subject to a review of local funding allocations and changes necessary 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



to control spending.
3.5 Despite this high level of increase to funding next year, it is still considered 

that this will not be sufficient to meet the additional cost pressures on High 
Needs next year. The uplift to the High Needs Place funding formula for 
Special Schools; Pupil Referral Units and Resourced Units, as approved by 
council, is likely to cost around an additional £2m over the next two years; and 
as part of the continuing SEN Review a proposed new banding structure for 
SEN Support to schools is also being considered. Members will recall that 
within the recent Council paper it was assumed based on previous information 
that the deficit in 22/23 would be £12.408mm on the High Needs budget.  
Following confirmation of funding and additional resources it is forecast that 
this deficit will be £12.493m.

3.6 The projected deficit position does not include any uplift required to right size 
Special School budgets or any increase in budget pressures which may relate 
to the additional £1.478m supplementary grant funding. If the additional 
funding was offset by extra budget pressure and Council agree to the uplift to 
right size Special School budgets’ then the deficit would increase to £15,971. 
However, the phasing in of the Special School funding increases by using 
some of the schools current balances may reduce this deficit figure for 
2022/23.

3.7 The following table showing the year on year effect of changes to High Needs 
funding from 2021/22 to 2022/23 and provides an overview of the makeup of 
Sefton’s High Needs Funding. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7



HIGH NEEDS FUNDING ANALYSIS Revised (Nov 21) 
2021/22

Initial 2022/23 Variation

£m £m £m
High Needs Formula 
Historic based funding 50% and Proxy 
Factor Funding 50% before deductions for 
recoupment by the DfE

£32.563m £35.843m +£3.280m

ADD Area Cost Adjustment Basic 
Entitlement calculation - incl changes to 
population etc 2019/20 / 2020/21

£2.998m £3.182m +£0.184m

Additional funding earmarked for 
Maintained Special Schools & AP in 
respect of Teachers Pay increases; 
Teachers Employer’s Pension costs and 
Supplementary pension costs covered 
previously by separate Grants up to 
2020/21

£0.649m £0.680m +£0.031m

Adjusted Baseline comparison £36.210m £39.705m +£3.495m

Import/Export of pupils between LA areas 
directly funded by the DfE - net adjustment 
to Sefton 

£-0.246m £-0.246m +£0m

Less DfE deductions for Pre and Post 16 
student places and others in Special 
Academies; Special AP; Colleges of FE etc 
directly funded by the ESFA

£-0.738m £-0.738m -£0m

2021/22 Indicative High Needs funding  
before any contributions from Schools 
and Early Years

£35.226m £38.721m +£3.495m

ADDITIONAL SUPPORT FOR HIGH 
NEEDS IN 2021/22 & 2022/23
Add - agreed Schools Block contribution for 
2021/22 (agreed SF Nov 20 / SF Jan 21)

+£0.430m +£0m -£0.430m

Add – Supplementary funding agreed as 
part of the Oct 21 Spending Review (£1.6bn)

+£0m *£1.478m +£1.478m

Total adjusted High Needs Funding 
excluding any Post 16 SEND Grant back 
to the LA for local Maint Special schools 
out of the deductions made above

£35.656m £40.199m +£4.543m

**Available for general HNs spending 
after taking out Special School and PRU 
Earmarked Pay and Pensions funding
above

£35.007m *£39.519m +£4.512m

3.7 As stated further reports will be brought to Cabinet on a quarterly basis by the 
Head of Education Excellence to provide Members with an update on the High 
Needs deficit position and the SEN Review work programme to reduce the 
financial pressures and meet the needs of SEND children in Sefton.

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: Thursday 3 
February 2022

Subject: Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Strategy and Business Plan

Report of: Head of Operational 
In-House Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Health and Wellbeing

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Y Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local 
flood risk. Under Section 9 of the FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply 
and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The previous strategy expired at 
the end of 2021 and the new strategy, once approved, will be in place from 2022 to 2030. 
The strategy is also supported by a Business Plan which sets out the actions the Council 
will do as LLFA over the next 12 months and will be reviewed and updated on an annual 
basis, whilst also forming the basis for the FCERM team’s annual report to Overview and 
Scrutiny. 

Recommendation for Cabinet:

(1) Cabinet to recommend approval by Council of the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management Strategy and supporting Business Plan.

Recommendation for Council:

(1) Council approve the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and 
supporting Business Plan.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Council needs to have an adopted Strategy as a requirement as a LLFA under the 
Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



If the Council does not have an up to date Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy in place it will fail in its duties as a LLFA under the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs 

There are no additional direct costs associated with this report.

Staff time and any associated costs to implement the strategy and Business Plan 
in its role as LLFA, and also as a Riparian Owner to undertake works to 
watercourses and assets that the Council own, are all funded from existing 
revenue budgets. 

(B) Capital Costs 

There are no additional direct capital costs associated with this report.

Any future capital projects linked the strategy will be subject to separate approval.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Staff time, IT and software licences, Maintenance of Council owned assets
Legal Implications:
Requirement under the FWMA 2010 to have a strategy in place

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Y
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The Strategy and Business Plan have been aligned to the principles of sustainability, 
the Environment Agency’s National FCERM strategy, Regional FCERM business plans 
and Flood Risk Management Plans, Sefton 2030 Vision and Sefton’s Climate 
Emergency Action Plan. The strategy aims to deliver positive impacts to the climate 
emergency and the environment. A separate Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Screening report has been undertaken to ensure the Strategy and Business Plan have 

Page 60

Agenda Item 8



no detrimental effects to the environment. This screening report concluded that there 
would be no negative impacts of the Strategy or Business Plan to the Environment. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

The Strategy and Business Plan are heavily aligned to Sefton 2030 Vision and it clearly 
states the actions the Council will undertake to achieve this.

Protect the most vulnerable:

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services:

Place – leadership and influencer: Sets the strategic direction for flood risk management 
in the borough 

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener: Seeks to deliver sustainable actions aligned with Sefton 2030 and the 
climate emergency action plan

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6661/22.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4861/22) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

External consultations with other Risk Management Authorities in the borough 
(Environment Agency and United Utilities) have been undertaken and their comments 
have been incorporated into the documents. Statutory consultees, Natural England, 
Environment Agency and Historic England have also been consulted with amendments 
being made to the documents. Finally, the public have been consulted through the Your 
Sefton Your Say platform with questionnaire. Easy read documents were also included in 
this consultation to broaden the opportunities for people to give their feedback. Following 
public consultation further amendments were made to the documents.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



Immediately following the Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Michelle Barnes

Telephone Number:
Email Address: michelle.barnes@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Enc 1. Final Draft Sefton’s Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy 
2022-2030
Enc 2. Final Draft Sefton’s Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Business 
Plan 2022

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council 
as a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of 
local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, 
apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.

1.1.2 The FWMA also requires the strategy to be consulted upon and a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) to be undertaken.

1.1.3 The consultation with internal departments, external partners and the public has 
been completed and relevant changes to the documents have been made. A SEA 
screening report was undertaken by a consultant to determine if a full SEA was needed. 
Statutory consultees agreed with the consultants recommendations that a full SEA was 
unnecessary due to the high level nature of the documents and that each scheme/project 
or proposal would be undertaking its own relevant environmental assessments, to ensure 
each project does not have a detrimental effect on the environment. 

1.1.4 The LRFS considers all the relevant legislative and policy documents applying to 
flood and coastal erosion risk to set the context for its management in Sefton. 
It sets out the risk from flooding and coastal erosion that our communities face and 
provides information on who the risk management authorities are in Sefton, their relevant 
functions and how our approach to flood risk management is coordinated. 

Page 62

Agenda Item 8



1.1.5 The challenges for managing flood and coastal erosion risk are identified and the 
approach to overcoming these detailed. The LFRS also offers information on how wider 
environmental objectives will be achieved in Sefton and the monitoring and review 
process. The potential funding mechanisms are also identified in the document.

1.1.6 The LFRS will cover the period from 2022 to 2030 and will be reviewed bi-annually 
if there are changes to legislation or policy, or a significant change to the evidence base 
and will be updated. The supporting Business Plan will be updated annually, and 
progress reported to Overview and Scrutiny. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 1

Sefton Council Flood 
& Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy -  
Business Plan  

Ready for the futurePage 65

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

Contents
1. Introduction  ............................................................................................................................................................. 1

2. National & Local Integration ................................................................................................................................ 2

3. Funding ...................................................................................................................................................................... 3

4. FCERM Actions .......................................................................................................................................................... 4

5. Summary of Projects .............................................................................................................................................. 6

Page 66

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 1

1. Introduction 
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the 
FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy. 

The strategy provides an overview of flood and coastal erosion risk management in Sefton and aims 
to balance the needs of communities, the economy and the environment. As part of the local strategy 
a Business Plan is provided which outlines Sefton’s future actions for managing the flood and coastal 
erosion risk identified in the local strategy. The Business Plan is an integral part of flood and erosion 
risk management as it provides detail on the processes, timescales, benefits and costs associated 
with any proposed measures. 

The Business Plan specifically sets out how funding will be secured and managed for proposed 
interventions over the short to medium terms. Funding can come from several streams: revenue 
funding (provided by the council), partner funding or Grant in Aid (GIA). Therefore, it is necessary to 
outline the justification and allocation for proposed measures.

The Business Plan is aimed at local decision makers and partner organisations; however, it also 
provides clarity to local communities on how flood and coastal erosion risk is managed in Sefton. 
The plan will be updated annually to reflect changes in revenue budgets, project progression, 
funding applications, new scheme identification or updates to relevant national documents e.g. the 
Environment Agency’s Medium-Term Plan. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 2

2. National & Local Integration
Sefton’s approach to Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) is intrinsically linked 
to national plans. The National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England   
outlines the three ambitions for flood risk management:

A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change - 
ensuring local people understand their risk to flooding and coastal change 
and know their responsibilities and how to take action.  

Climate-resilient places - working with partners to bolster resilience to 
flooding and coastal change across the nation, both now and in the face 
of climate change. 

Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient in tomorrow’s climate - making 
the right investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth 
and environmental improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient to 
flooding and coastal change. 

It is essential that our FCERM measures align with this national agenda. However, on a local level, 
the Sefton 2030 Vision provides the broad guidelines on the ambitions for the Sefton Borough. 
Consequently, we have combined the ambitions of the National Flood Risk Strategy for England with 
those of our Local Vision 2030 to provide the structure for FCERM in Sefton (Figure 1). By combining 
both national and local requirements we provide a holistic approach that directly benefits our 
communities whilst aligning with the larger framework set by national standards.

Figure 1: Depiction of the eight themes that form the foundation of Sefton’s 2030 Vision.

Page 68

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 3

3. Funding
 ■ Flood Defence Grant in Aid (GiA): This is money from Defra which is administered by the 

Environment Agency. The amount of GiA a scheme is eligible for is determined by the outcomes 
and benefits it will deliver, with a focus on homes being better protected from flooding and 
coastal erosion. Outcome Measures reflect financial, environmental, health, social and FCERM 
benefits. Where there is a shortfall in GiA, partnership funding contributions from other sources 
or a reduction in costs is required to achieve project viability. Funding allocations for these 
sources are subject to a successful and approved business case.  

 ■ Local Levy: The North West RFCC can choose to support projects that are either not eligible for 
GiA, or to support projects where there is a shortfall in GiA by the allocation of Local Levy.  

 ■ Partnership Funding: Where GiA in Aid and/or Local Levy does not fully support the delivery of 
a project, the LLFA can provide additional funding through their contributions or by seeking 
external contributions from partners and communities who may benefit from the project. 
Funding allocations for these sources are subject to a successful, approved business cases.  

 ■ Quick Win Funding: The Merseyside FCERM Partnership has an annual allocation of £50,000 for 
small interventions that can improve the management of risk. 

 ■ Prudential Borrowing: The Council may undertake prudential borrowing to enable an essential 
capital scheme to progress, but this is dependent upon identifying revenue budget efficiencies in 
future years to make funding available to meet the cost of repaying the loan.  

 ■ Other Grants: Sefton Council will seek to secure funding from other grants as and when they 
become available. 

 ■ Highways Funding: The Council is responsible for keeping the highway free from flooding and 
invests money in its Highway Drainage Asset to achieve this. There are opportunities to use this 
funding to achieve wider outcomes relating to flooding as well as keeping the highway free from 
flooding.

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 4

4. FCERM Actions
The table provided below details how FCERM will be undertaken. Our approach has been broken down 
into a structure that reflects the Vision 2030 with specific details on the action, the timescale and the 
relevant funding scheme.

Action
Funding 
Source

Delivery 
Target

Resource

Sefton 
Vision 
2030 

Theme

PEOPLE

Develop a FCERM communications plan to support the 
Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Strategy. Revenue July 2022 Staff Time

Together 
a stronger 
community

Engage with communities about the broader issues 
of FCERM, climate change and flood risk awareness 
(Highways Maintenance to work with FCERM on this).

Capital/Revenue Project 
Specific Project Specific

Engage with riparian owners about their responsibilities 
(Highways Maintenance to work with FCERM on this). Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Engage with communities where FCERM projects will be 
undertaken. Capital/Revenue Project 

Specific Project Specific

Exchange knowledge and best practice with wider 
partners to ensure improvements, efficiencies and 
effective ways of working. 

Capital/Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Work collaboratively with wider partners to identify 
opportunities to deliver multiple benefits and ensure 
Sefton’s interests are considered.

Capital/Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Work with other RMA’s to identify viable options for 
Maghull (Project E in Section 5). Capital Ongoing Project Specific

Work with land managers and NW coastal group on 
the delivery of the Eco buffers project at Formby Point 
(Project L in Section 5).

Capital/Revenue 2021-2027 Project budget 
tbc/staff time

Ensure council-delivered SUDs schemes achieve multiple 
benefits. Capital/Revenue Ongoing Project Specific

A Borough 
for 

Everyone

Seek funding to deliver the Crosby Flood & Coastal 
Defence Scheme (Project A in section 5). Capital 2028 Project Specific

Assess deliverability and seek funding to deliver the Pool 
Scheme (Project B in section 5). Capital 2026 Project Specific

Support the delivery of the Climate Emergency Action 
Plan (Project L in section 5). Revenue 2030 Staff Time

Review FCERM policies & develop new policies were 
necessary. Revenue 2023 Staff Time

Inspecting Council-owned assets (Highways 
Maintenance to review highway drainage asset). Revenue Annual Staff Time

Living, 
working & 
having fun

Reactive inspection of private-owned assets following 
reports of flooding. Revenue Annual Staff Time

Explore opportunities to manage water differently by 
working with wider partners in order to support the 
work of Green Sefton such as community food growing 
projects and habitat creation.

Revenue Ongoing Staff time

Page 70

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 5

Action
Funding 
Source

Delivery 
Target

Resource
Sefton 

Vision 2030 
Theme

PLACE

Undertake consenting with Riparian owners as 
required Revenue Ongoing Staff-time

Clean, green 
beautiful 
borough

Undertake enforcement with Riparian owners as 
required (Highways Maintenance to undertake this 
where it impacts on the highway drainage)

Revenue Ongoing Staff-time

PRODUC-
TIVITY

Ensure flood and coastal erosion risk is considered 
in all council-led projects. Revenue Ongoing Staff Time On the move

Review up-to-date climate change projections and 
consider how these may impact Sefton. Capital As 

necessary Staff Time

Ready for the 
Future

Deliver actions set out in Shoreline Management 
Plan. Capital Check SMP Staff Time

Undertake an annual review of resources to ensure 
Sefton Council (as LLFA) continue to deliver the 
actions set out in the Environment Agency’s Flood 
Risk Management Plan (Project K in section 5).

Capital Check 
FRMP Staff Time

Complete Surface Water Management Plan Level 
2 and seek funding to deliver options (Project D in 
section 5).

Capital 2024 TBC

Deliver the North West Strategic Regional Coastal 
Monitoring Programme (Project C in section 5). Capital 2021-2026 Project Specific

Establish plan and triggers for works to Hightown 
Coastline (Project F in Section 5). Revenue/Capital 2022 Staff time

Ensure we support the Planning Service in 
undertaking its duty as a Local Planning Authority 
through our role as a statutory consultee on major 
developments, and as an advisory consultee on 
significant minor developments.

Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Ensure we support the Planning Service in the 
preparation of evidence, other documents and 
draft policies to support the review of the Local 
Plan (e.g. new Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, 
Coastal Change) and any other development plan 
documents and supplementary guidance.

Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Deliver improvements to the surface water outfalls 
along the Ainsdale/Birkdale coastline. Capital 2022 £20000

Coordinate the delivery of groundwater monitoring 
across the Merseyside Authorities. Capital 2022 £24000

Pilot smart water level monitoring at key locations 
in Sefton. Capital 2022 £13000

Undertake a programme of inspection for coastal 
assets. Capital March 

2022 Staff Time

Undertake a programme of inspections for Inland 
assets. Revenue Annual Staff Time

Undertake programmed and reactive maintenance 
for highways assets. Revenue Annual £85, 650.00

Develop asset management systems and a 
risk-based approach to maintenance for the 
highway drainage asset - to be undertaken 
by Highways Maintenance and co-ordinated 
with FCERM

Revenue Annual £30,000

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 6

5. Summary of Projects
A. Crosby Flood and Coastal Defence Scheme
Sefton Council are developing a business case in partnership with United Utilities and the 
Environment Agency to secure funding to undertake a scheme in Crosby to reduce risks associated 
with coastal change and surface water flooding.

The main issues in the area are:

 ■ The river Alt Training Wall has lowered over time and needs works to raise the height to ensure 
the river Alt continues to flow out to sea.

 ■ Coastal erosion is occurring northwards of the Coastguard Station for approx. 1km releasing 
contaminated material and putting the Mersey Estuary Pollution Alleviation Scheme (MEPAS) rising 
main sewer at risk. During December 2013, the coast here eroded 11m due to a storm event.

 ■ The current hard defences southwards of the Coastguard Station (for approx. 1km) are at the 
end of their design life and need replacing. They protect approx. 170 homes and the United 
Utilities MEPAS rising main sewer from coastal erosion.

 ■ Approximately 460 homes in the Crosby area are at risk of flooding all of which would benefit 
from works to reduce surface water flood risk. 

Current Status: Sefton Council are working with partners to secure funding for the delivery of this 
scheme. This scheme is subject to the availability of funding and planning approval processes but, 
if successful, is likely to commence during summer 2027.

B. The Pool Watercourse Scheme
The Pool watercourse drains a significant part of Southport, with approximately 3000 properties in 
its catchment. Over time the watercourse has had more connections added to it and its status and 
capacity were unknown. A study has investigated the system and developed a range of options to 
deliver flood risk benefits in the area. There is a strong focus on natural flood management approaches 
in this project. 

Current Status: Sefton Council are working with a consultant to provide detailed design and costs 
for this scheme with the aim to secure funding and commence works 2023/4.

C. North West Strategic Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme (CERMS)
The regional monitoring programme was set up in 2007 to improve the coordination and quality of 
coastal monitoring along the north west coastline. Sefton Council has been the lead authority on 
behalf of the north west coastal group. The programme is designed to ensure a coherent package of 
monitoring, data collection, collation and analysis is undertaken across the entire NW coast to support 
the delivery of the Shoreline management Plan and sustainable coastal management decisions.

Current Status: Funding has been secured until March 2027.

Page 72

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 7

D. Surface Water Management Plan
Pluvial or surface water flooding is usually, but not exclusively, a result of intense rainfall that exceeds 
the capacity of the installed drainage system, this often leads to flooding of the public highway. 
Typically, this type of flooding is very localised and has short lead-times, making it difficult to predict. 
It can occur where no watercourse exists. The problem and severity of ‘pluvial’ flooding can be 
exacerbated by: topography, drainage system capacity and surfaces with low permeability.

In 2011 Sefton Council commissioned a Level 1 Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP). The plan 
identified 22 areas that are at risk of significant surface water flooding or where further detailed 
investigation is necessary to mitigate against flood risk within the areas.

Since undertaking of the Level 1 Surface Management Plan there have been a further three 
significant flood events in September 2015, December 2015 and July 2017. It was decided through 
local knowledge, subsequent rainfall events and reports of flooding that 3 strategic areas, Maghull, 
Seaforth & Litherland and Formby would benefit from a detailed Level 2 SWMP to examine the issue 
of surface water flooding in greater detail. This included the development of 2D hydraulic models 
to better define flood hazards and to help identify future scheme options, undertake economic 
appraisals and recommend future actions to manage surface water over the short, medium and 
long term.

Current Status: Flood modelling has been updated and Hotspot analysis of Maghull, Formby and 
Seaforth & Litherland is complete. The Seaforth & Litherland Report did not identify any significant 
flooding hotspots that would need to be taken forward for development. The Formby flooding 
Hotspot Assessment identified areas that would be taken forward for Option Assessment and a 
draft assessment report has been produced. The Maghull Hotspot report is currently being drafted 
and further Hotspot Assessments will be undertaken for Hightown and areas north of Formby up 
to and including Southport.

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 8

E. Maghull Strategic Planning Group
Maghull has suffered from a number of flood events in recent years across the town but notable 
flooding has occurred through both river and surface water or a combination of both. Each of the 
Risk Management Authorities have looked at schemes to reduce the risk but the viability of these has 
been limited.

The Maghull Strategic Planning has been set up with the aim to provide recommendations that will 
act to resolve or reduce flood risk. The group is made up of the core risk management authorities 
EA, United Utilities, Sefton Council. The group also works in collaboration with wider partners such 
as Mersey Rivers Trust, Maghull Town Council, Canal & Rivers Trust and Alt Crossens Catchment 
Partnership. This group reports findings to the Sefton Flood Resilience Strategic working group which 
is chaired by the deputy leader of the council. The groups purpose is to work collaboratively and 
strategically to develop a strong common understanding of flood risk from all sources, alternative / 
innovative actions to reduce flood risk, feasibility assessments and delivery routes for solutions.

Current Status: Regular group meeting are undertaken in order to review and identify ways of 
reducing flood risk in Maghull. Previous options for Fouracres and Whinney Brook were considered 
unfeasible based on cost-benefit analysis, therefore, more holistic ways of reducing flood risk are 
being considered. A ‘Catchment-System-Thinking’ approach is being considered which will help to 
incorporate a higher number of smaller flood alleviation projects with the aim of reducing overall 
flood risk in Maghull and provide multiple benefits.

F. Hightown Coastline
At Hightown beach a scheme was undertaken in 2011 to rebuild the dunes to where they were in 
the 1970s to delay the time needed for further intervention and to formalise defences around the 
Blundellsands Sailing Club. It was anticipated that this would extend the life by 30yrs. Since 2011 
much of the sand placed as dunes has been redistributed within the system with significant losses 
since the scheme was completed, during storms in 2013/14 and 2020. The community are becoming 
increasingly concerned. An assessment study was undertaken in 2020/2021 to provide a range of 
options which would be dependent on future coastal processes. 

Key areas of concern are:
 ■ The areas to either side of the sailing club where there is a risk of the defences being flanked. 

 ■ The spit of dunes north of the sailing club to the front of the reed bed has experienced erosion 
during extreme events (such as 2013/14 and 2019/2020), however the reed bed being exposed 
to wave action is a potential risk as it would not be expected to respond well. 

 ■ The operation of outfalls both through the structure failing or the outfalls being buried.

Current Status: Sefton Council is currently reviewing a consultant produced Option Report for 
Hightown. The report sets out potential flood risk management options for consideration by 
Sefton Council and potential times and locations for their deployment.

Page 74

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 9

G. Ainsdale Birkdale coastal outfalls
The land drainage system for parts of Ainsdale (200 properties) and Birkdale (25 properties) was 
designed to drain through a small sand dune system through a network pipe and open watercourses 
and onto the foreshore. Since the system was built the level of the foreshore has increased and the 
dune system has accreted significantly. This is severely restricting the free discharge of surface water 
onto the foreshore. Beach levels in some areas are higher than the top of pipe. The dune system and 
foreshore are also now designated nationally and internationally. The system requires significant 
work to facilitate free discharge. 

Current Status: A contractor will undertake work in winter 2021/22 to clear the outfalls. The 
window for these works is constrained by high-level environmental designations.

H. Formby Strategic Flood Risk Management Programme
Formby has had several recent flooding incidents primarily from surface water. The area was 
identified within the SWMP and PFRA as being at risk of future flooding. Disparate schemes have led 
to limited benefit and a coordinate approach is needed to reduce flooding across Formby. A variety of 
options will be considered and implemented, including attenuation, resilience, re-routing watercourse 
and up-grading watercourses to deliver a reduction in flood risk. The outputs of the SWMP will 
help identify options and we will work with the Formby Flood Group and other Risk Management 
Authorities to implement them.

Current Status: Sefton Council is continuing to support Formby Local Flood Group in raising 
awareness of flooding in the area and advancing further research into groundwater levels.

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 10

I. Merseyside Strategic Groundwater Flood Risk Pilot
The project is looking to quantify the rate of rising groundwater and what areas are most at risk.

There are approximately 22,000 properties at moderate to significant risk of groundwater flooding 
risk across Merseyside. Merseyside Risk Management Authorities need a better understanding of 
the risk posed by groundwater and ways to reduce the consequences of groundwater flooding to 
properties through mitigation and resilience measures. A network of ground water monitoring gauges 
will be deployed across Merseyside to gain an evidence base of groundwater levels. 

Current Status: Sefton Council is continuing to work with other Local authorities across the 
Merseyside region to identify and install groundwater monitoring equipment.

J. Smart Water level monitoring
Sefton is flat low-lying borough by nature and relies on pumped systems to drain water into the 
sea.  The borough is at risk of flooding and coastal erosion from the sea, flooding from surface water, 
sewers, ground water, watercourses, rivers and canals. Sefton has had several significant flooding 
incidents over the years. Because of these frequent incidents the Council aims to undertake a scheme 
to install watercourse level monitoring systems at strategic locations along identified watercourses 
that can be remotely monitored by Council operational staff. This will allow real-time river/
watercourse levels to be monitored and communities to be informed and warned in a timely manner.

Current Status: The Council are currently identifying and sourcing appropriate water level 
monitoring equipment to be installed in 2022.

K. Flood Risk Management Plans

The Environment Agency has been updating the National Flood Risk Management Plans, as required 
in the Flood Risk Regulations 2009.  They explain the risk of flooding from rivers, the sea, surface 
water, groundwater and reservoirs and set out how risk management authorities will work with 
communities to manage flood risk over 6-year periods. The plans emphasise impacts on people, the 
economy and the environment, including cultural heritage and they must:

 ■ focus on communities and partnership working

 ■ co-ordinate across catchments and coastlines

 ■ consider sustainability issues

 ■ take a proportional, risk-based approach

 ■ look to achieve multiple benefits for the environment and society

 ■ encourage beneficiaries to invest in flood risk management

Page 76

Agenda Item 8

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made


Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 11

The objectives should be consistent with the National FCERM Strategy for England 2020  
and should cover:

 ■ the risk to life, residential properties, services and infrastructure, vulnerable communities, and 
any other relevant aspects (social objectives).

 ■ agricultural economy, commercial properties, leisure and tourism, and any other relevant aspects 
(economic objectives).

 ■ biodiversity, geology and soils, geomorphology water quality, historic environment, and any other 
relevant aspects (environmental objectives).

The FRMP focuses on the areas identified in the Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA). The PRFA 
identified the following areas as being at high flood risk within Sefton:

 ■ Southport to Ainsdale

 ■ Formby

 ■ South Sefton - Maghull, Crosby to Bootle (continued across the boundary into Liverpool)

Specific measures have been identified to address flood risk in these areas and other generic 
measures to help contribute towards the achievement of the three national FCERM Strategy for 
ambitions for England.  

Current Status: The Environments Agency’s draft Flood Risk Management Plans are currently 
being reviewed by Sefton Council and other partners. Consequently, the measures proposed 
in the EA’s draft Flood Risk Management Plans have been incorporated into Sefton Council’s 
Business Plan.

L. NW ECO Coastal Buffers Project - North West Coastal Group 2021-2027
This project will develop a suite of natural buffer strips to increase coastal resilience of vulnerable 
hot-spots in the North West, including a proposal for Formby Point.  Creating a natural buffer strip 
around the coast has multi benefits, including reducing flood risk, reducing coastal erosion, increasing 
biodiversity and water quality, provides carbon capture and other ecosystem services such as 
recreation and well-being.  These buffer strips with their rich vegetation, act as natural breakwaters, 
capturing sediment and dissipating wave energy. 

Current Status: Sefton Council is delivering actions against the Climate Emergency Action Plan with an 
annual progress report published July 2021 - Issue details - Climate Emergency Annual Report.

Five key areas will be addressed:

 ■ Understanding the eco-geomorphological system.

 ■ Develop innovative solutions to create and maintain buffers.

 ■ Application of novel and integrated monitoring techniques including: Autonomous radar, 
WireWall, Satellite and Drone photogrammetry and Citizen Science to provide a single learning 
model of the coastal nearshore.

Page 77

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2
http://smbc-modgov-03/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=64340&Opt=0


Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 12

 ■ Establish adaptation triggers and pathway.

 ■ Empowering communities; throughout the project, communities will be engaged in a process of 
co-creation of knowledge and co-design of buffers.

Current Status: Project development underway with a proposal to submit full business case in 
Summer 2022. Formby Point is being considered as one of the potential sites.

M. Climate emergency strategy and implementation plan
Sefton Council declared a climate emergency and has developed a strategy that represents a 
commitment and provides the basis from which future plans can be developed. Climate change is 
and will continue to increase flood and coastal erosion risk. By declaring a climate emergency, Sefton 
Council acknowledges that climate change must be considered in many aspects of our lives and 
this Business Plan is one way of helping us to support our communities and businesses to adapt and 
prepare for the future. 

By 2030, the Council will have:

 ■ Established a clear baseline and full audit of all ongoing work that can contribute to the 
achievement of our net zero target.

 ■ Developed ambitious yet achievable targets for each of our proposed action plans based on our 
baseline evidence.

 ■ Achieved net carbon zero by 2030 and ensure all strategic decisions are in line with this target.

 ■ Raised awareness of the issues across the Council, our partners and our communities.

 ■ Engaged with young people and the wider community.

 ■ Embed climate action and value into our decision making across the organisation.

The Climate Emergency Implementation Plan has been developed to support the strategy, setting out 
actions in response to the Climate Emergency over three-time phases.

 ■ Phase 1 2020 – 2023

 ■ Phase 2 2023 – 2026

 ■ Phase 3 2026 - 2029

Current Status: Sefton Council is delivering actions against the Climate Emergency Action Plan 
with an annual progress report published July 2021

N. Highway Drainage Asset Management and Risk based Maintenance
This project will be led by Highway Maintenance but is included here as the flooding of the highway 
and flooding from the highway can have such a significant impact on residents. The project will 
implement suitable asset management systems ensuring the suitable management and coordination 
of works to this asset. Risk based maintenance will be implemented to recognise the varying risk 

Page 78

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 13

associated with different locations, some gullies may not need to be cleaned every year, some 
might require more frequent cleaning – the collection of and management of data within the asset 
management system will facilitate this risk-based approach.

Current Status: Sefton Council is identifying flooding hotspots on the Highway and aiming to ensure 
the planned maintenance of gullies in high risk areas is appropriate.

Current Status: Sefton Council is identifying flooding hotspots on the Highway and aiming to 
ensure the planned maintenance of gullies in high risk areas is appropriate. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 14

6. Sefton Council Group Attendance
The table below lists all the working groups the FCERM team attends. By maintaining regular contact, 
it ensures we work in a collaborative and holistic manner: 

Meeting Group Purpose/Aim Reason for attending Frequency Role
North West and North 
Wales Coastal group

Coordinate delivery of SMP and share 
best practice

Report on NW strategic coastal 
monitoring programme

Quarterly Member

Liverpool Bay Coastal 
group

Coordinate delivery of SMP and share 
best practices within Liverpool Bay

Represent Sefton Council as 
Maritime Authority

Biannual Vice-chair

Northern Coastal 
subgroup

Coordinate delivery of SMP and share 
best practices within from Ribble to 
Solway

Report on NW strategic coastal 
monitoring programme

Quarterly Member

Coastal Evidence task 
group

Establish robust evidence base for NW 
Coastal Group activities

Coordinate and collate 
evidence and research

Quarterly Chair

Shoreline Management 
Plan delivery group

Coordinate delivery of SMP working 
groups

Representing coastal evidence 
working group

Weekly Member

National Network of 
Strategic Regional 
Coastal Monitoring 
Programmes

Coordinate regional monitoring 
programmes, exchange best proactive 
and coordinate funding applications

Represent North West strategic 
regional coastal monitoring 
programme

Quarterly Member

North West Regional 
Flood and Coastal 
Committee

Strategic direction for FCERM in the 
North West of England

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member when 
attending

Quarterly meeting 
(attendance required 
every other meeting)

Support 
officer

North West Regional 
Flood and Coastal 
Committee finance 
subgroup

Assess grant in aid programme and 
applications for local levy for approval 
at full committee

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member when 
attending

Quarterly meeting 
(attendance required 
every other meeting)

Support 
officer

Merseyside strategic 
flood group partnership

Steer and coordinate FCERM in 
Merseyside across all RMAs and other 
partnerships

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member

Quarterly Member 
and 
support 
officer

Merseyside tactical 
flood group partnership

Coordinate and exchange best practice 
in delivering FCERM in Merseyside with 
RMAs and other partners.
*This group feds into the Merseyside 
Strategic Flood Group Partnership

Representing Sefton Council Quarterly Chair (until 
2022)

Sefton Operational 
Flood Group

Coordinate delivery of maintenance for 
FCERM across Sefton with RMAs and 
other partners

*This group feds into the Merseyside 
Tactical Flood Group Partnership

Representing Sefton Council Quarterly Chair

Sefton Flood Resilience 
Strategic working 
group

Cabinet members and Multiagency 
working party to provide strategic 
direction and coordination within 
Sefton.

Representing Sefton Council Monthly Member/
support 
officer

Maghull Strategic flood 
planning group

Multiagency group coordinating options 
for flood risk management in Maghull

Representing Sefton Council Monthly Member

Mersey and Alt 
catchment partnership

Coordinate management of works 
to deliver water framework directive 
priorities

Representing Sefton Council 
as LLFA

Quarterly Member

Mersey sediment 
stakeholder meeting

Monitor dredging works undertaken by 
Mersey docks and harbour and seeks 
beneficial reuse of sediments.

Representing Sefton Council’s 
coastal interest

Biannual Member

Sefton Climate 
Emergency Officer 
Group

Exchange best practices and monitor 
delivery against the climate action plan

Representing Green Sefton Quarterly Member

Page 80

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 15Page 81

Agenda Item 8



Page 82

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 1

Sefton Council Local 
Flood & Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management 
Strategy
 2022 - 2030

Ready for the futurePage 83

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

Contents
1  Introduction  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .1

1 .1  What is a Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .1

1 .2 Legislative Context  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .2

1 .2 .1  National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England (2020)  .  .  .  .  .  .3

1 .2 .2 North West Regional Flood & Coastal Committee Business Plan .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .3

1 .2 .3  Merseyside Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Partnership Business Plan  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .4

1 .2 .4 Sefton’s 2030 Vision  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .4

1 .3 .1 What is Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .5

1 .3 .2 Who is Responsible?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .6

1 .3 .3 A Joint Approach to Managing Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .8

2 Flood and Coastal Erosion in Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .10

2 .1 Sefton’s Recent History of Flooding and Erosion .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .10

2 .2 Challenges to Risk Management in Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .13

3 Future Ambitions for Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .15

4 Potential Funding Sources  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .16

5 Monitor and Review  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .17

6 Wider Environmental Context .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .18

7 Useful Links .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .19

Page 84

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 1

1  Introduction
1 .1  What is a Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

Strategy?
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the 
FWMA, an LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy . 

The strategy provides an overview of flood and coastal erosion risk management in Sefton and 
integrates the concept of sustainable development through careful consideration of the three 
fundamental pillars: people, place and productivity . These three pillars of sustainability are a global 
concept that is incorporated into international and national schemes such as the United Nations’ 
2030 Sustainable Development Agenda and the UK Government’s 25-year Environmental Plan . 
Through sustainable development, the council aims to improve flood and coastal erosion risk 
management whilst aiding present and future environmental restoration .

The document gives information on who the risk management authorities are in Sefton, their 
relevant functions and how our approach to flood risk management is coordinated. It offers 
information on how wider environmental objectives will be achieved in Sefton and provides 
timescales of when our approach will be reviewed . The strategy is supported by a ‘Business Plan’ 
which outlines Sefton’s future measures for managing flood and coastal erosion risk and provides 
detail on the process, timescales, benefits and costs associated with any proposed measures. This 
strategy will provide local communities and stakeholders with clarity on flood risk management in 
Sefton . 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 2

1 .2 Legislative Context
The legislative framework defines the roles and responsibilities placed on flood risk management 
authorities . There are several overarching national legislative documents relevant to the management 
of flood and coastal erosion risk. The actions undertaken in Sefton must, therefore, align with national 
legislation . The hierarchy of the legislation and links to the relevant documents are provided in Figure 
1 . 

Sefton’s Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy is influenced by national, regional 
and sub-regional legislation, policies and strategic plans . The mirroring of these broader documents 
is essential to provide an integrated and, therefore, nationally coherent approach to sustainable flood 
and coastal erosion risk management . 

Figure 1: Legislative context . Links to the relevant documents can be found under Section 7: Useful Links .

Page 86

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 3

1 .2 .1  National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for 
England (2020)

The Environment Agency has a responsibility under the FWMA 2010 to develop a national strategy for 
flood and coastal erosion risk management in England. The national strategy for England outlines the 
duties of all risk management authorities involved in the reduction of flood and coastal erosion risk 
(further details provided in Section 1 .3 .2) . The focus of the national strategy for England is to support 
all risk management authorities to manage the risk of coastal erosion and flooding in a coordinated 
and sustainable way across coasts and catchments . 

The national strategy for England sets out a sustainable long-term vision:

“A nation ready for, and resilient to, flooding and coastal change – today, tomorrow and to the year 
2100.”

The vision is supported by a set of long-term ambitions focussed around the three pillars of 
sustainable development:

A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change - 
ensuring local people understand their risk to flooding and coastal change 
and know their responsibilities and how to take action . 

Climate-resilient places - working with partners to bolster resilience to 
flooding and coastal change across the nation, both now and in the face of 
climate change .

Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient in tomorrow’s climate - making 
the right investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth 
and environmental improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient to 
flooding and coastal change.

The national strategy for England provides the framework for LLFAs to produce their local flood risk 
management strategies and helps to guide operational activities and improvements to local flood 
and coastal erosion risk management . Under the FWMA it is essential that local strategies align 
with the vision of the national strategy whilst providing locally relevant actions for sustainable risk 
management .

1 .2 .2 North West Regional Flood & Coastal Committee Business Plan
The North West Regional Flood and Coastal Committee (RFCC) Business Plan is one of the main 
influences on Sefton’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The North West RFCC is one of 
twelve committees established across England under the FWMA 2010 . The RFCC brings together 
the organisations responsible for flood and coastal erosion risk management across the North 
West Region: The Environment Agency, Local Authorities and United Utilities . The committee has 
several functions, firstly, to ensure there are coherent plans for managing flood and coastal erosion, 
secondly, to encourage effective investment that benefits local communities and thirdly, to provide a 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 4

link between regional organisations involved in flood and coastal erosion risk management. The North 
West RFCC produces a three-year Business Plan which sets out the risks, challenges and actions for 
the region .

1 .2 .3  Merseyside Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Partnership 
Business Plan

A subsidiary of the North West RFCC is the Merseyside Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
(FCERM) Partnership which brings together the organisations that manage flood and coastal erosion 
risk in Merseyside . The aim of the partnership is to identify priorities, steer the use of resources and 
support good investments for our communities . The partnership uses the high-level actions outlined 
in the North West RFCC Business Plan to guide local actions . The Merseyside FCERM Business Plan sets 
out key risks, challenges and opportunities that face Merseyside in relation to flooding and coastal 
erosion . The Merseyside Business Plan is updated on a three-year cycle . 

1 .2 .4 Sefton’s 2030 Vision
In addition to the broader national and regional strategies, Sefton Council has a localised 2030 Vision 
which has eight overarching themes that form the founding principles of our work in Sefton (Figure 2) . 
The eight themes of the Sefton Vision incorporate the three pillars of sustainability: people, place and 
productivity . 

The eight themes of Sefton Vision help to guide our current and future actions and are used in the 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Business Plan to underpin our proposed future measures for 
flood and coastal erosion risk management. 

Figure 2: Depiction of the eight themes that form the foundation of Sefton’s 2030 Vision .

Page 88

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/your-local-area/merseyside/#section-4


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 5

1.3 Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk      
 Management
1 .3 .1 What is Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk?
Flooding events can have devastating environmental, social and economic impacts making a 
sustainable flood risk management strategy essential. It is not often economically feasible or even 
desirable to prevent all forms of flooding in all locations. Therefore, Sefton Council uses its powers as 
an LLFA to reduce either the likelihood or consequences of flooding and works with other flood risk 
management authorities to ensure all powers and duties are being enacted .

Flood risk is a balance between probability and consequences . Generally, the less probable (likely) 
an event is the more severe the consequences (impacts) will be . Flood risk is dependent upon the 
presence of a flood source, a route for the flooding and an area that would be affected by the water. 
Without a route linking the floodwaters to a vulnerable area of human infrastructure, the flood would 
be a hazard but not a risk . 

Return periods are often used to describe the frequency of a flood event and are an average of how 
often a flood event of a given magnitude will occur in a year. These return periods are a form of 
probability or chance – a 1 in 50 return period has a 2% probability of occurring in any one year .

Table 1 outlines the commonly used return periods with their equivalent percentage probabilities . 
High probability flood events are generally smaller in magnitude and are more likely to have localised 
impacts when compared to low probability flood events which are likely to have broader reaching and 
more severe impacts .

Table 1: Explanation of flood return periods

Coastal erosion describes the persistent wearing away of the coastline. Land lost to erosion is difficult 
to recover and, once gone, has a lasting impact on the shape of the coastline . Erosion is generally a 
gradual process but can be dramatically increased during storm events . Larger scale erosion events 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 6

are a combination of extreme weather, tidal conditions and the susceptibility of a coastline to erosion . 
As climate change continues to raise sea levels and increase the severity and frequency of storms the 
management of coastal erosion and flood risk will become ever more challenging. 

1 .3 .2 Who is Responsible?
Flooding can be caused by different sources and there are designated risk management authorities 
that are responsible for flooding from certain sources. However, flooding can occur from a complex 
interplay of sources (combination of sources) meaning flood risk management authorities must work 
collaboratively to reduce and prevent flood impacts (National FCERM Strategy for England, 2020).   

‘Local Flood Risk’ (the subject of this document) refers to flooding from ordinary watercourses, 
groundwater and surface water. Detail on who is responsible for the management of flooding from 
other sources and coastal erosion can be found in Table 2 . More information can also be found on the 
The Flood Hub website .

The coast is a particularly dynamic environment and can be a risk for those living and working by the 
sea. The Environment Agency have a national strategic overview of coastal flood and erosion risks and 
sets the direction for how these risks should be managed . The North West coast is managed by the 
North West and North Wales Coastal Group which oversees the management of the coast through the 
delivery of the Shoreline Management Plan (SMP). The SMP identifies the most sustainable approach 
to manage the coastline and aims to reduce risk to people and the environment in the short-term 
(0-20 years), medium-term (20-50 years) and long-term (50-100 years) . The SMP is reviewed every 
10 years and has four policy options: Hold the Line, Advance the Line, Managed Realignment and No 
Active Intervention . Sefton Council is the coastal protection authority for the borough of Sefton and 
seeks to deliver the actions as set out in the SMP . 

Page 90

Agenda Item 8

https://thefloodhub.co.uk/am-i-at-risk/?term=responsibility#section-2


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 7

The North West Coastal Group website provides information on the relevant coastal risk management 
authorities and how we work in partnership to manage the coast sustainably .

Table 2: Flood sources and coastal erosion events defined plus the responsible authority.          
Highlighted are the events that are relevant to the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy.

Event Responsible Authority Description 
Surface Water Flooding              
(Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water is forced to flow over land or ponds in 
low spots as it is unable to be absorbed by the soil or drain 
into the drainage network . This can occur after a heavy 
rainfall event . 

Ground Water Flooding             
(Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water is forced to flow out of the ground due 
to high water tables in the surrounding area .

Flooding from Ordinary 
Watercourses (Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water flows out of smaller watercourses such 
as streams, brooks and drainage ditches . This can occur 
when the capacity is exceeded or due to a blockage .

Coastal Flooding Environment Agency Occurs when coastal areas are inundated by the sea . This 
can occur due to extremely high water levels or failure of 
raised coastal defences 

Coastal Erosion Coastal Protection Authority - 
Sefton Council 

Occurs through the constant wearing away of the land or 
beach . 

River Flooding Environment Agency Occurs when flood water originates from main river 
channels (designated by the Environment Agency), this 
can occur due to overtopping of river banks or a failure of a 
raised embankment

Sewer Flooding United Utilities Occurs when foul water surcharges from sewers . This can 
occur due to capacity exceedance or blockages .

Road, Drain or Gully flooding Highways England (Trunk Roads), 
Sefton Council Highways (Locally 
adopted highway)

Flooding or ponding on the highway . This can occur due to 
capacity exceedance or blockages .

Canal Flooding Canal & River Trust Flood water originates from a canal . This can occur when 
the level of the water in the canal becomes too high and 
overtops or if there is a breach .

Page 91

Agenda Item 8

https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 8

1 .3 .3 A Joint Approach to Managing Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk
The varied responsibilities for flood risk management and nature of flooding mean that Sefton Council 
works with other risk management authorities, communities and riparian owners to reduce flood and 
coastal erosion risk across Sefton . 

Merseyside Partnership

We work in partnership with all Merseyside LLFAs and other partner risk management authorities 
to ensure we manage flood risk collectively. We also collaborate with wider stakeholders and 
groups (please refer to Section 6 of the Business Plan) to provide a broadscale approach to flood 
risk management . Figure 3 depicts the working relationships between these organisations across 
Merseyside and beyond . 

Figure 3: Partnership working to deliver Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management across Merseyside

The Strategic Merseyside Flood Partnership Group coordinates flood risk management across 
Merseyside and is supported by a Tactical Officers Group that coordinates activity and shares best 
practice . Furthermore, each Local Authority hosts a Local Operational Group where local issues are 
discussed in detail .

Individuals and Communities

Individual property and business owners have a responsibility to protect their property from flooding. 
Land, property and business owners should take appropriate steps to ensure that their property and 
contents are protected .

The Flood Hub is a North West regionally funded website to support our communities in 
understanding how they can become more resilient and resistant to flooding. 

Page 92

Agenda Item 8

https://thefloodhub.co.uk/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 9

Riparian Owners

Under common law, riparian owners have responsibilities for the stretch of watercourse they own . 
A riparian owner possesses land in which a watercourse runs on, through, beneath or adjacent to it . 
If the land is adjacent to a watercourse it is assumed that the landowner owns up to the centre of 
the watercourse, unless it is owned by someone else (confirmation through a land registry check). 
Under the Land Drainage Act (1991), riparian landowners have a legal responsibility to maintain 
the free passage of water through the section of watercourse that flows through their land. The 
responsibilities of landowners are outlined in the GOV .UK webpage . The Flood Hub provides advice and 
guidance on riparian ownership .

Developers

Developers have a responsibility to ensure developments are sustainably drained . Sustainable 
drainage must be considered both during and post-construction . It is the responsibility of the 
developer to demonstrate that new developments do not increase flood risk to the site or surrounding 
area . It is then for the Local Planning Authority, and associated statutory consultees, to determine 
whether suitable flood risk mitigation has been demonstrated or not. The type and location of the 
development will determine whether a flood risk assessment and/or sustainable drainage strategy is 
required to manage flood risk. The LLFA is a statutory consultee on all major planning applications (≥ 
10 properties) . The Local Planning Authority is responsible for ensuring the development is undertaken 
in accordance with the approved plans such as Sefton’s Local Plan . The Local Plan is used to shape 
development in Sefton between 2015 and 2030 . The plan encourages sustainable development and 
economic growth and it gives current and future generations more opportunities to live and work in 
Sefton’s outstanding environment . Sefton Council’s robust planning procedures ensure developments 
do not increase flood risk elsewhere, but instead attempt to deliver betterment to the flood risk in the 
area . 

Page 93

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/owning-a-watercourse
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/landowner/?term=riparian


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 10

2 Flood and Coastal Erosion in Sefton
2 .1 Sefton’s Recent History of Flooding and Erosion
Sefton has experienced several significant flooding and erosion events over recent decades. The 
borough is within a low-lying pumped catchment which contains three estuaries, a canal and is 
bordered by the Irish Sea – all these factors place Sefton at increased risk of flooding and erosion. 
Table 3 details some of the significant events to occur in the last 60 years:

Table 3: Historic flood and erosion events in Sefton

Period Event
1970s The breach of a secondary sea defence in Crossens resulted in the inundation of 110 properties .

1990s The Leeds and Liverpool Canal burst its banks flooding over 200 properties in Maghull.

2010 50 properties were flooded in Seaforth after heavy and prolonged rainfall

2012 40 properties in Maghull were flooded after heavy and prolonged rainfall.

2013/2014 Winter storms resulted in the loss of 11 m of coastline at Crosby (average erosion rate of approximately 1-2 m per 
year) .

2015 Extensive flooding across the borough was prevented from entering properties due to actions undertaken by the 
local community and fire service.

2019 Significant flooding from Dover’s Brook, Maghull, as a result of heavy rainfall causing the highest recorded water 
levels on the brook since a gauge was installed in 2012 at 2 .51m . Flood waters were prevented from damaging 
properties due to quick action from the local community, Sefton Council and the Environment Agency

2020 - High groundwater levels in the borough and flooding incidents in Formby and Maghull following the wettest 
February on record for the UK .

- Storm Ciara caused a loss of approximately 10 .3 m of coastline from Cabin Hill, south of Formby point . 

-Summer storms caused significant flooding in Maghull and Thornton.

2021 Two Severe Flood Warnings were issued to 439 properties on the evening of 20 January 2021, with evacuations 
proceedings initiated from some residents . 

A new peak level was recorded at Dover’s Bridge gauging station of 2 .55m on 20 January 2021 which saw Dover’s 
Brook overtop its embankments at low points flooding Sefton Lane. The increased river levels also prevented surface 
water drains discharging into Dover’s Brook and flooding Sefton Drive.

The record river levels experienced during Storm Christoph breached flood defences on the River Alt next to the 
Environment Agency’s Lunt Meadows Flood Storage Basin and nature reserve, managed by Lancashire Wildlife Trust . 
The breach resulted in river levels dropping rapidly .

The Severe Warnings were downgraded in the early hours of 21 January as we received less rain than forecast, 
along with river levels dropping rapidly. This appears to have been key in preventing the extensive flooding forecast 
in Maghull .  

Flood risk is not equal across the Sefton borough – Figure 4 displays the current understanding of 
borough-wide flood risk in Sefton (more detail can be found on the GOV .UK website) . Figure 4 displays 
the extent of flood risk based on a 1 in 1000 event (0.1% probability in any given year) taking into 
account climate change allowances and the number of houses at risk of inundation . Furthermore, a 
1 in 100 event (1% probability in any given year) (includes climate change allowance) could result in 
approximately 72,000 being impacted by external flooding in their gardens or adjacent roads and 

Page 94

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/check-flood-risk


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 11

Figure 4: Flood risk from all sources in Sefton for a 1 in 1000 (0 .1%) event .

15,600 are at risk of internal flooding. Areas at higher risk of flooding are Maghull, Formby, Crosby 
(Figure 4) .

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 12

Sefton currently has both an eroding and accreting coastline - Figure 5 displays the areas currently 
at risk of erosion . The coast is protected by a variety of hard and soft sea defences . Soft defences, 
such as the sand dunes in Formby, offer a degree of protection but can be vulnerable during storm 
events, which can erode several metres of dunes during a single event . Saltmarsh environments, 
such as those present in Southport, also offer useful natural defence by reducing the energy of 
incoming waves . Current hard defences, such as the sea wall in Crosby, has provided excellent 
protection to local communities but some of these assets are reaching the end of their design 
life and potentially pose a risk if they are not maintained or replaced . The SMP provides the policy 
context for the long term future of these assets . 

In addition to erosion, there is also large sections of accretion where sediment gathers and builds 
out towards the Irish Sea . These accreting sections cause beach levels to rise, sand dunes to 
increase and saltmarshes to form and improve the coastal defences function they provide .

Figure 5: Coastal erosion risk in Sefton (Red lines show areas at highest risk) . Please see SMP for more details .

Page 96

Agenda Item 8

https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 13

2 .2 Challenges to Risk Management in Sefton
Flooding and coastal erosion are significant risks to our borough. These risks can be influenced and 
exacerbated by several overarching factors which make flood and coastal erosion risk management in 
Sefton more challenging . These are:

Climate Change 

Climate change is having a significant impact on future river flows, rainfall and coastal dynamics. The 
UK’s average temperature has increased by 0 .8 degrees since 1961-1990, with a sea-level rise of 16 
cm for the UK since 1900 (National FCERM Strategy for England, 2020) . The UK Climate Projections 
2018 (UKCP18) illustrate a range of future climate scenarios up to 2100 which are relevant to the 
management of flood and coastal erosion risk: 

 ■ Sea levels are projected to rise over the 21st century and beyond under all emission scenarios . 
Therefore, we can expect to see an increase in both the frequency and magnitude of extreme 
water levels around the UK coastline . 

 ■ Average summer rainfall could decrease by up to 47% by 2070, while there could be up to 35% 
more precipitation in winter . What rainfall does occur is predicted to be more intense over a 
shorter duration, which could lead to an increase in surface water flood risk. 

The projections provided in UKCP18 can be used as a tool to guide national and local decision-making 
and boost resilience – whether that is aiding future developments plans, increasing flood defences, 
designing new infrastructure or adjusting land management for drier summers .

As a result of the UKCP18 projections, several Merseyside Local Authorities, including Sefton and 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, have declared a climate emergency . The declaration 
commits us to tackle carbon emissions, raising awareness of climate change and activating change 
through local action . This strategy will support the delivery of adaptation where necessary . 

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 14

Predominant Surface Water Flood Risk 

Surface water flooding has the potential to occur anywhere but is particularly prevalent following 
short, intense storms. These surface water flood events can occur in all areas of Sefton. Sefton has 
the highest number of properties at high risk of surface water flooding, both in Merseyside and in the 
North West. The increased risk of surface water is largely a result of Sefton’s naturally flat topography, 
coastal boundary, large areas of urban development and the reliance on pumping stations to drain 
the catchment .  

Ageing Drainage Infrastructure 

Sefton has a large network of ageing culverts, sewers and drains which may need significant 
investment to replace or upgrade them . This ageing infrastructure, along with pressures from 
development and a tendency for increased paving, such as driveways, poses problems to the drainage 
network. Furthermore, ad-hoc modifications to watercourses such as culverting and flow redirection 
can increase pressure on the ageing network, particularly when modifications are undertaken without 
consent .

Rising Groundwater Levels 

Merseyside is situated on an aquifer that, for approximately 150 years, was heavily exploited . The 
water table was drawn considerably below its natural level . Upon cessation of pumping, the aquifer 
has undergone recharge, which has resulted in rising groundwater levels in some areas . The rising 
groundwater can cause groundwater flooding which also means that there is less capacity for the 
absorption of rainfall into the ground which can also exacerbate surface water flooding. Groundwater 
levels also interact with tidal levels along the coast resulting in variability in the level of dune aquifers 
and subsequent flooding. 

Coastline Dynamics 

Coastal flooding and erosion are serious considerations for the management of Sefton’s 22-mile 
coastline . Sefton’s coastline varies between hard engineered defence structures and natural soft sea 
defences . 

The North West and North Wales Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) provides recommendations on 
whether to maintain Sefton’s current coastal defences (‘hold the line’), whether to allow to coast to 
evolve naturally (‘no active intervention’) or whether defences should be set back further (‘managed 
realignment’). Current sea walls and embankments are designed to protect against both flooding and 
erosion . Coastal erosion does pose a risk to the sustainability of current natural defences, as well as 
the potential loss of important habitats (e .g . dune systems at Formby point) . Furthermore, some of 
Sefton’s hard defences are reaching the end of their design life and potentially pose a risk if they are 
not sufficiently maintained or replaced. The coastline is also susceptible to changes in the coastal 
process dynamics driven by climate change . Rising sea levels and changes to weather patterns will 
likely see the eroding areas expand and a reduction in those that are accreting .

Page 98

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 15

3 Future Ambitions for Sefton
When looking to Sefton’s future the vision and ambitions for FCERM must take a holistic approach by 
integrating national and local ambitions .  

The Local Flood Risk Management Strategy is aligned to the Sefton Vision 2030 and the work 
delivered through the strategy will aid all aspects of life in the borough . The Sefton Vision 2030 has 
a clear commitment to sustainability and all our future FCERM actions must incorporate this vision 
to ensure long-term viability . By working with and supporting local communities and businesses we 
aim to ensure a strong, knowledgeable and resilient community . By continually seeking technological 
advances we aim to be at the forefront of a sustainable future that uses evidence-based decision 
making in the management of flood and coastal erosion risk. 

On a local level, the Sefton 2030 Vision provides the ambitions for a sustainable Sefton Borough and 
these are combined with the ambitions of the National Flood Risk Management Strategy for England . 
The integration of national and local agendas provides a locally sustainable but nationally coherent 
approach to flood risk management in Sefton. 

The Business plan details the specific actions that will be delivered to reduce the risk of flood and 
coastal erosion in Sefton . It also gives information on the relevant funding sources and timescales 
on when these actions will be completed . The Business Plan is kept as a separate document so it 
can be updated regularly to reflect changes in revenue budgets, funding progress and new scheme 
identification. The Business Plan provides transparency for our communities but is primarily aimed at 
Council decision-makers and partnered agencies . 

Page 99

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 16

4 Potential Funding Sources
Under the FWMA 2010, Sefton Council has allocated annual revenue funding to undertake its duties 
and maintain watercourses in its ownership . The annual funding is spread across several services 
depending upon who is responsible for the land or watercourse .

However, Sefton Council seeks additional funding to enable it to better manage the risk of flooding 
and coastal erosion . The following funding sources are available:

 ■ Flood Defence Grant in Aid (GiA): This is money from Defra which is administered by the 
Environment Agency . The amount of GiA a scheme is eligible for is determined by the outcomes 
and benefits it will deliver, with a focus on homes being better protected from flooding and 
coastal erosion. Outcome Measures reflect financial, environmental, health, social and FCERM 
benefits. Where there is a shortfall in GiA, partnership funding contributions from other sources 
or a reduction in costs is required to achieve project viability . Funding allocations for these 
sources are subject to a successful and approved business case . 

 ■ Local Levy: The North West RFCC can choose to support projects that are either not eligible for 
GiA, or to support projects where there is a shortfall in GiA by the allocation of Local Levy . 

 ■ Partnership Funding: Where GiA in Aid and/or Local Levy does not fully support the delivery of 
a project, the LLFA can provide additional funding through their contributions or by seeking 
external contributions from partners and communities who may benefit from the project. 
Funding allocations for these sources are subject to a successful, approved business cases . 

 ■ Quick Win Funding: The Merseyside FCERM Partnership has an annual allocation of £50,000 for 
small interventions that can improve the management of risk .

 ■ Prudential Borrowing: The Council may undertake prudential borrowing to enable an essential 
capital scheme to progress, but this is dependent upon identifying revenue budget efficiencies 
in future years to make funding available to meet the cost of repaying the loan . 

 ■ Other Grants: Sefton Council will seek to secure funding from other grants as and when they 
become available .

 ■ Highways Funding: The Council is responsible for keeping the highway free from flooding and 
invests money in its Highway Drainage Asset to achieve this . There are opportunities to use this 
funding to achieve wider outcomes relating to flooding as well as keeping the highway free from 
flooding.

Page 100

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 17

5 Monitor and Review
The Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy will remain in place up to 2030 with 
bi-annual reviews that will allow new regulations or evidence to be incorporated to ensure the 
Strategy remains fit for purpose. The Strategy will also be subject to annual review by Sefton Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee . Furthermore, each of the actions proposed in the accompanying 
Business Plan will have a project programme which will be reviewed monthly .

Our knowledge base will be kept up to date through our asset inspections and survey programme for 
both coastal and inland assets . Information on coastal evolution will be provided by the North West 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme . 

Page 101

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 18

6 Wider Environmental Context
This Local Flood Risk Management Strategy has been produced based on the principle of 
sustainability . Therefore, Sefton Council aims to ensure any actions outlined in these documents 
do not produce detrimental impacts to the environment and, instead, encourage sustainability .
Consequently, a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) Screening Opinion were required to highlight any potential areas of concern . 

The HRA found that due to the strategic high level of the Strategy and nature of supporting Business 
Plan actions, it is concluded that the Strategy will have no likely significant effects on the national 
site network and Ramsar sites. It is, however, recommended, where appropriate, subsequent plan / 
project-level HRAs will likely be required (the HRA is available on request) .

The SEA Screening Opinion was undertaken to establish whether a full SEA would be required for 
the Strategy and Business Plan . The screening opinion considered whether the Sefton Local Flood 
and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and Business Plan is likely to lead to significant 
environmental effects in conjunction with the SEA Regulations . The screening has considered a 
number of potential environmental effects that may arise as a result of the Strategy and Business 
Plan . Whilst some limited environmental effects have the potential to take place as a result of the 
Strategy and Business Plan, it is considered that these are unlikely to be significant in the context of 
the SEA Regulations and their requirements .

The SEA topics where effects have the most potential to be significant relates to climatic factors. 
This is unsurprising given that the remit of the Plan is to manage flooding and coastal erosion (which 
should help to improve resilience) . However, the effects would no doubt be positive, and further 
examination of the strategy through an SEA process would offer little insight into the nature of 
effects . A key factor in determining this SEA screening opinion is the high level nature of the Strategy 
and Business Plan; meaning that there are no policies or measures that will directly affect land use . 
Where there are references to specific projects and actions, these are related to existing Plan actions 
or will be delivered in lower tier plans, programmes, strategies and projects . As was concluded in the 
HRA screening, it is considered that a more appropriate level for assessment would be for subsequent 
plan / project level SEA / EIA. 

For these reasons, it is considered that the Strategy and Business Plan is not subject to the 
requirements of the SEA Regulations . As such, a full SEA process meeting the requirements of the SEA 
Regulations is not deemed to be required to accompany the development of the Sefton Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and Business Plan (the SEA is available on request) .

Page 102

Agenda Item 8



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 19

7 Useful Links
 ■ Flood and Water Management Act 2010:         

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents

 ■ Water Industry 1991 Act:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents

 ■ Town and Country Planning Act 1990:         
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents

 ■ Water Resources Act 1991:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/57/contents

 ■ Reservoirs Act 1975:             
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1975/23

 ■ Land Drainage Act 1991:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/59/contents

 ■ Public Health Act 1936:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo5and1Edw8/26/49

 ■ Environment Bill 2020:            
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2020

 ■ Agriculture Bill 2019-2021:           
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2019-21/agriculture.html

 ■ Civil Contingencies Act 2004:            
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents

 ■ National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England:                             
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-
management-strategy-for-england--2

 ■ Flood Risk Regulations 2009:            
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made

 ■ National Planning Policy Framework 2012:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2

 ■ 25 Year Environment Plan 2018:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan

 ■ Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan Framework:       
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-
wastewater-management-plans

 ■ The Water Environment Regulations 2017:         
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made

 ■ North West Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Business Plan:                                               
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee

Page 103

Agenda Item 8

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/57/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1975/23
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/59/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo5and1Edw8/26/49
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2020
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2019-21/agriculture.html
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-wastewater-management-plans
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-wastewater-management-plans
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 20

 ■ Flood Risk Management Plans:          
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-management-plans-frmps-responsibilities

 ■ Catchment Flood Management Plans:         
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/catchment-flood-management-plans

 ■ River Basin Management Plans:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-2015

 ■ Shoreline Management Plans:          
https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans

 ■ Merseyside FCERM Partnership Business Plan:        
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-
Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4 .pdf

 ■ Sefton Vision 2030:            
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/vision-and-core-purpose/

 ■ Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Management Plan:     
www.sefton.gov.uk/advice-benefits/crime-and-emergencies/flooding-advice.aspx

 ■ Strategic Flood Risk Assessment:         
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-
march-2013 .pdf

 ■ Surface Water Management Plan:         
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1442/sefton_swmp.pdf

 ■ Multi Agency Resilience Framework:         
https://merseysideprepared.org.uk

 ■ Sefton Coast Plan:           
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20
Coast%20Plan .pdf

 ■ Local Plan:             
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan

 ■ Consenting and Enforcement Policy:          
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20
Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies .pdf

 ■ Flood Investigation Policy:           
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20
and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies .pdf

 ■ Climate Emergency Declaration:          
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-
emergency

Page 104

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-management-plans-frmps-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/catchment-flood-management-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-2015
https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4.pdf
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/vision-and-core-purpose/
www.sefton.gov.uk/advice-benefits/crime-and-emergencies/flooding-advice.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-march-2013.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-march-2013.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1442/sefton_swmp.pdf
https://merseysideprepared.org.uk
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20Coast%20Plan.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20Coast%20Plan.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-emergency
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-emergency


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 21Page 105

Agenda Item 8



Page 106

Agenda Item 8



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 3 February 2022

Subject: Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited – Strategy and Business 
Plan (2021-22 to 2024-25)

Report of: Executive Director 
(Place) 

Wards Affected: All Wards

Cabinet Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regeneration and Skills

Is this a Key 
Decision?

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The report provides the Cabinet with the proposed strategy and business plan for Sefton 
Hospitality Operations Limited. The focus of the business will include, but not be limited 
to, operating the hospitality offer at Crosby Lakeside Adventure Centre (CLAC), and this 
report follows on from the previous reports to Cabinet on the CLAC project.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to:

(1) Note the Strategy and Business Plan for the company, including its alignment with 
the Business Case for Crosby Lakeside Adventure Centre previously presented 
to Cabinet;

(2) Approve the Strategy and three-year Business Plan for Sefton Hospitality 
Operations Limited;

(3) Approve that any material variations to this financial forecast be presented back 
to Cabinet for further decision; and

(4) Approve that an updated Business Plan for the three years from the financial year 
2023-24 be brought to Cabinet for approval in advance of the start of that financial 
year. 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Sefton’s Growth and Strategic Investment programme includes a number of projects that 
enhance and maximise the offer across the borough to residents and visitors alike. This 
offer goes beyond the physical assets themselves, and the role of Sefton Hospitality 
Operations Limited (SHOL) and its opportunity are to provide an experience for customers 
that aligns with the vision and objectives of the borough and the council. Moreover, SHOL 
and its strategy will enable support for local people with access to higher-quality career 
opportunities in the hospitality sector.

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

There are no alternative options to be considered.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

All financial implications are discussed within the report and the Business Plan itself.

(B) Capital Costs

All financial implications are discussed within the report and the Business Plan itself.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Any resource implications are contained within the report.

Legal Implications:

Any legal implications are contained within the report.

Equality Implications: 

The vision and values, strategy and operating procedures of the company will align with 
the ethos of the Council, in respect of equalities, and will be reflected in all areas, 
including recruitment, procurement, etc.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Y
Have a neutral impact N
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The vision and values, strategy and operating procedures of the company will align with 
the Council’s response to climate emergency, with focus on environmental 
sustainability. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Page 108

Agenda Item 9



Protect the most vulnerable: Inclusivity will be at the heart of the company’s vision and 
values, in respect of both the physical and experiential offer to residents and visitors.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Inclusivity will be at the heart of the 
company’s vision and values, in respect of both the physical and experiential offer to 
residents and visitors. Moreover, the company will offer quality employment and career 
opportunities for local people in the hospitality sector.

Commission, broker and provide core services: Project future returns to the Council, as 
sole shareholder of SHOL, will provide revenue to contribute towards service provision.

Place – leadership and influencer: The physical and experiential offer of the company 
will support enhancement of sense of place across the borough.

Drivers of change and reform: The enhancement of physical assets, the offer to 
customers, and the approach to employment and career opportunity, will all support 
change across the borough and in the sector. 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: The company will support economic 
prosperity and resilience through the offer of quality employment and career 
opportunities for local people in the hospitality sector.

Greater income for social investment: The strategy and business plan outline the 
significant intended contribution of the company in respect of social value.

Cleaner Greener: All projects and operations will align with the highest environmental 
standards, reflecting the council’s focus on climate emergency.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director Corporate Resources & Customer Services (FD 6670/22) and the 
Chief Legal & Democratic Officer (LD 4870/22) have been consulted and any comments 
have been incorporated into the report. 

(B) External Consultations 

There have been no external consultations.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Stephen Watson 
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3710

Page 109

Agenda Item 9



Email Address: Stephen.Watson@sefton.gov.uk 

Appendices:

Appendix – Strategy and Business Plan document

Background Papers:

A link to the CLAC Business Case report considered by Cabinet on 4 February 2021 is 
below

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2987&ID=2987&RPID=3232
9296 

Page 110

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Stephen.Watson@sefton.gov.uk%20
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2987&ID=2987&RPID=32329296
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2987&ID=2987&RPID=32329296


1.0 Introduction 

1.1 In February 2021 the Council agreed the Full Business Case for the Crosby Lakeside 
Adventure Centre project. This includes approval of the recommendation to 
incorporate a new operating company, with board members nominated and 
appointed in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, and the recommendation 
that £500,000 working capital was loaned from Sefton Council to the new hospitality 
company to cover the launch and the first 18 months of operation. After this time the 
debt would be paid back to the council over the 10 years of the business plan and as 
the first financial commitment from profits generated.

1.2 This report covers the three-year Strategy and Business Plan for the operating 
company, named Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited (SHOL) and wholly owned 
by Sefton Council. The Strategy and Business Plan document is appended to this 
report.

2.0 Strategy

2.1 The focus for SHOL will be on being an employer of choice in the hospitality sector. 
This is intended to include focus on offering full-time, permanent employment 
opportunities, with all roles paying a real living wage or above (and the Business Plan 
herein is based on this assumption). These terms and conditions will be one part of 
an attractive and differentiated offer to employees, ensuring that the company 
attracts, develops and retains staff. This offer will also include training and 
development opportunity, working towards long-term career growth in the hospitality 
sector, and will be complemented by the ethos and core values of the company that 
should ensure an organisational culture of which employees wish to be a part.

2.2 The ambition is to deliver a quality experience for employees, who in turn will deliver 
a quality experience for customers – this strategic approach is not uncommon at the 
“higher end” of many sub-segments of the retail sector.

2.3 This employment offer also aligns with the core values of the Council and of the 
borough, and SHOL offers employment opportunity for a number of cohorts, aligned 
to the Council’s priority areas.

 
2.4 In respect of service delivery and the potential for growth, the strategy for SHOL 

during this Business Plan period will be:
 To ensure that the start-up of the business is successful, building the 

structures and teams necessary to delivery the vision, strategy and core 
objectives herein;

 To ensure that the opportunity at Crosby Lakeside Adventure Centre (CLAC) 
is maximised by the company, as a priority; and

 Beyond CLAC, to selectively pursue other opportunities for profitable growth, 
in line with the values and objectives herein, with low capital investment and 
no additional borrowing by the company.

Page 111

Agenda Item 9



3.0 Business Plan

3.1 The Business Plan is summarised within the appended document. Detailed and 
commercially sensitive information behind those assumptions is not included in the 
plan. This Business Plan aligns to Full Business Case (FBC) approved by Cabinet 
for CLAC in February 2021, and the long-term returns anticipated in that FBC are 
unchanged in this Business Plan or in the assumptions over the 10-year period 
assessed within that FBC. This includes company profitability, repayment of the 
shareholder loan, and dividends from the company to the shareholder. Furthermore, 
SHOL will deliver circa £250,000 benefit to the Council per annum, by way of the 
previous subsidy being removed and other measures, as stated in the FBC above.

3.2 Continued uncertainties in the hospitality sector, due to the COVID-19 pandemic as 
well as other factors, are taken into account in this Business Plan, and reflected in 
the prudent approach to growth exemplified by the strategy summarised in section 
2.4 of this report.

3.3 As per the FBC approved in February 2021, an initial debt facility has been made to 
the company by the Council. However, no additional borrowing by the company from 
the Council, or any other source, is anticipated in this Business Plan, and repayments 
are expected in line with the previously-approved FBC.

3.4 As with other council-owned companies, any material variations to this Business Plan 
will be reported separately to the Cabinet for review and approval.

3.5 Moreover, an annual update to the three-year Business Plan will be reported to 
Cabinet, with an updated Strategy and Business Plan for the three financial years 
from 2023/24 to 2025/26 presented to Cabinet before the start of the 2023/24 
financial year.

4.0 Other Key Considerations

4.1 The approach to strategy, business planning and associated reporting is and will be 
consistent with other council-owned companies.

4.2 This will include governance matters, with the process underway at the time of this 
report to appoint an independent Chair of Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited. That 
role would be intended to bring strategic oversight and sector expertise to the 
company.

4.3 The Council’s redevelopment of the Crosby Lakeside Adventure Centre has been 
delayed due to the previous contractor’s delays and failures to satisfactorily progress 
the works. Following termination of the contractor’s employment under their contract, 
the Council is implementing its contingency plan to complete the scheme. These 
delays have impacted the company’s operations in the short-term, but as above there 
is no expected variance across the period assessed within the FBC for the project. 
Moreover, alternative short-term opportunities are being progressed for the company 
to mitigate the impact of these delays, which have been outside the control of the 
Council or the company.

Page 112

Agenda Item 9



SEFTON HOSPITALITY OPERATIONS LIMITED

Business Plan P
age 113

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 2

Table of Contents

Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................3

Business Description
Business Description .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................4 
Vision, mission and values ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................4
History and current status ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................4 
Goals and Objectives ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................5 

Key Challenges and Opportunities
Recruitment ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................6 
Crosby Lakeside Adventure Centre Project ......................................................................................................................................................................................7
Brand ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................8 
Action Plan ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................9

Products and Services
Product and Service Description ........................................................................................................................................................................................................11

Financial
Financial Summary ...............................................................................................................................................................................................................................12

P
age 114

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 3

Executive Summary
This plan sets out the key objectives and strategy, and a summary of the 
business plan, for the future success of SHOL (Sefton Hospitality Operations 
Limited); focussing on the financial years 2022-23 to 2024-25. It discusses 
some short-term ventures that support the launch of the business, as well 
as mitigating the impact of delays on the Crosby Lakeside Adventure Centre 
(CLAC) project.. Longer term goals are discussed and form an integral part of 
not only the financial success of SHOL but the success of SHOL in delivering 
on it’s mission and values. SHOL will initially look to use green spaces and 
coastal locations to build brands and consistency within the business, with 
the longer-term aim of rolling these out in to urban and residential areas. As 
SHOL grows the business will further diversify and develop different revenue 
streams including, but not limited to, Large Scale Events, Outside Catering, 
Training, Equipment Hire, Retail, Office/Co-Work Spaces and Consultancy.

The responsibility to shareholder (SMBC) in both qualitative and quantitative 
terms is clear. The financial performance for the next four years is forecast 
below, and SHOL is committed to achieving these results alongside 
contributing to the shareholder objectives outlined in Sefton’s 2030 vision.

The attraction and retention of talent is a key risk and challenge for SHOL, 
as for the industry as a whole; central to business strategy will be its 
differentiation as an employer of choice. This plan discusses creation of 
pathways for training and development within the business for benefit to 
both the company and the shareholder, offering career opportunities in a 
diverse sector.

SHOL will ensure that it constantly seeks to be at the forefront of innovation 
and delivery of new products, technology, and training within the industry 
by pro-actively engaging with our peers, competitors, and experts.

In line with the Council’s Full Business Case (FBC) for the CLAC project, 
published in February 2021, SHOL will provide circa £250,000 benefit to the 
shareholder per annum, by way of the subsidy being removed and other 
measures. Despite delays to the CLAC project, the objectives of that FBC 
remain unaltered, although this plan relates to the whole SHOL business, 
not just CLAC. 

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 4

Business Description 
SHOL is a private company set up to create and operate hospitality outlets 
offering exciting, diverse, and accessible options for their customers. From 
hotels through to bars and restaurants, as well as outside catering, food 
delivery and events SHOL aims to provide unique experiences for both its 
guests and employees. Through dynamic and modern approaches to the 
journeys of these two key groups SHOL aims to become the hospitality 
business of choice first in Sefton, then the wider Liverpool City Region.

Vision, mission and values
Mission

To provide exceptional customer experiences and great facilities; 
meeting the needs of local people, visitors and businesses, and 
contributing positively to Place Shaping in Sefton; all whilst remaining 
a commercially viable business.

Values
People first                                                                                                        
work as a team, invest in our team, reward our team, and promote 
integrity at all levels so our team are enthusiastic, proud and committed, 
enjoying their work in delivering great hospitality experiences to our 
customers.

Sustainable  
Economically, 
environmentally 
and socially.

Passionate 
Strive to do our 
best, have fun, 
and to go the 
extra mile for 
ourselves, our 
colleagues, our 
customers, and 
our shareholder.

Inclusive        
We are 
accessible, 
considerate, 
and pro-active 
in creating 
diversity and 
inclusion within 
our venues and 
workforce

Ambitious      
We want to 
grow, learn, 
achieve and 
innovate across 
the whole 
business.

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 5

Vision

Operate a profitable business that is the employer of choice for 
candidates in the Hospitality industry. Invest in people as well as 
assets, resulting in high performing and diverse teams that can deliver 
memorable, high quality experiences for customers, communities, 
visitors and shareholders within accessible, welcoming facilities.  This 
will be achieved through engaging recruitment and training, extensive 
professional development, high quality products and innovative 
technology. 

Goals and Objectives 
a) To run profitable hospitality venues in order to help deliver the Council’s 

strategic vision and ambitions as set out within the Sefton Vision 2030. 

b) To implement a hospitality operating model which will provide a 
revenue neutral or revenue surplus position for the Council. 

c) To run sustainable and inviting venues that enable the Council to be 
seen to directly contribute to an improved and sustainable visitor offer 
for Crosby Coastal area in accordance with the Sefton Coast Plan 2017 
and at other sites across the borough.

d) To provide long-term benefits for the health and wellbeing of the local 
community and visitors to the Sefton Coast and Sefton as a whole.

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 6

Key Challenges and Opportunities
Challenge / Risk Opportunity / Mitigation

Recruitment In the context of the continued 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
as well as of exiting the European 
Union, the attraction and retention 
of talent is a major challenge for 
the hospitality sector nationwide, 
and this will include Sefton and this 
business.

SHOL Academy

A key part of SHOL’s strategy will be to offer clear training and career pathways for those 
joining the company.

We plan to engage with training providers such as Hugh Baird or Southport College, alongside 
industry partners to create a program of training and experience that will ensure we are not 
only investing in our people but also providing financial benefits to the business as a result. A 
key deliverable of this initiative is the company’s objective to have 80% of our management 
positions promoted from within by Year 3. 

Alongside this program SHOL has engaged several council departments to discuss providing 
interview opportunities to groups that may have previously faced barriers to employment 
(NEET, YOT, Care Leavers, BAME). It is expected that most of the content would be delivered 
via the college or private providers with SHOL covering the work experience and practical 
elements. Long term SHOL would like to become an accredited training provider which could 
provide a further revenue stream as well as enhance our offer as the local employer of choice.

P
age 118

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 7

Key Challenges and Opportunities
Challenge / Risk Opportunity / Mitigation

Delays to 
the Crosby 
Lakeside 
Adventure 
Centre 
project

Due to factors outside the control 
of the company or the Council, the 
intended opening of the venue has 
been delayed, which impacts the 
intended strategy and business plan 
for the company.

The Council (our shareholder) has developed and implemented contingency plans for 
progression of the project. 

The company’s own contingency plans include a range of early opportunities, in line with this 
strategy and business plan, such as taking on a concession stall at Southport Market, providing 
services at Bootle Canalside and a number of other potential concessions.

These plans will provide early income for SHOL and allow the business to begin recruitment 
and start building relationships in the local area and across the industry.

Currently SHOL has mitigated the lack of income from CLAC by deferring costs, for example 
delaying recruitment and services that would be associated with the start of the business.

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 8

Key Challenges and Opportunities
Challenge / Risk Opportunity / Mitigation

Brand It will be vital to establish a distinct 
brand for the company and its 
offerings that are differentiated 
in what remains a competitive 
environment.

It is vital that SHOL makes an immediate positive impact regarding the offer available at 
venues, the customer service, the type of events and the level of engagement. SHOL will be 
very present on social media and online as well as utilizing classic marketing such as print and 
face to face. 

SHOL will encourage feedback and will actively engage with both positive and negative to 
ensure we have a voice and our users and staff feel listened to. 

A huge part of SHOL’s performance measurement will centre around staff quality of life scores 
and customer scores and reviews. These will be valued alongside financial performance. Our 
core belief is that they go hand in hand.

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 9

Action Plan 

Southport Market
SHOL will be taking a lease from Sefton Council for a unit at Southport 
Market to provide desserts to visitors of the market. This will be the first 
venture for SHOL and provides a great opportunity to employ our first team 
members, generate some revenue, and test out some menu and branding 
ideas ahead of future ventures. As discussed in this plan the business hopes 
to create several brands that can be duplicated at key locations; desserts 
forms an   important part of this strategy.

Mobile and Semi-Permanent sites
SHOL is committed to engaging with Sefton Council regarding opportunities 
for concessions and other collaborations. These will require low capital 
investment from the company, but align with the council’s vision for the 
borough as well as the objectives of the company. These collaborations 
could include, but are not limited to, concessions, large scale events, 
and wider council projects across its Growth and Strategic Investment 
Programme.

The company aims to both improve the offer at key strategic locations, from 
a health and wellbeing perspective, as well as financially for the company 
and for the council.

A brief overview would be the following three target areas:

1 2 3

Existing concessions 
(subject to tender 

opportunities) in parks, 
sports fields and coast 

areas

New and additional 
sites for such units  (e.g. 

Crosby Coastal Park / 
Promenade)

Large scale events, both 
existing and new

SHOL would look to create 1 or 2 “brands” that would be recognisable at 
each area and build trust. The long-term idea would be that these brands 
could be expanded to urban units and/or be placed within any future large 
projects.

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 10

Bootle Canalside
SHOL is keen to be part of Sefton Council’s Bootle Canalside development, 
whether that may be as main operator of the site on behalf of SMBC, or as 
a tenant alongside other ventures. Bootle and the immediate surrounding 
area hold a lot of potential when taking in to account other plans for the 
area. SHOL would hope to operate several units in Canalside, yielding high 
profits as well as directly employing upwards of 10 people on this site alone.

Recruitment/Academy
SHOL has begun discussions with training providers and industry experts. 
We believe this area to be absolutely key to the early and long term success 
of the business. We will aim to attract 80% of our employees from Sefton 
or the wider LCR. It is predicted that by providing industry leading training, 
development and terms and conditions the business can hope to have over 
80% of management positions filled internally by year 3. Reputationally this 
would be massive as well as providing key savings in recruitment costs.

As the business grows the academy would allow us to retain staff for longer 
which would in turn enhance the culture of the company and improve 
staff quality of life. This would subsequently enhance profit. A longer term 
objective would be to become a training hub and offer consultancy/training 
services to start-ups and smaller companies.

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 11

Products and Services
Product and Service Description
We have worked closely with our marketing agency; Essential Studio to 
create a persona for our first venue that would hope to adapt/replicate as 
we grow.

What we are – A company creating exciting spaces in the community, for 
the community; inspired social hubs that are clear and coherent. We do not 
overcommit to a theme that might exclude or discourage guests. We are 
clear in vision and easy-to-understand. We are inspired and inspiring, but 
with mass appeal 

Who we are - We love all, serve all. One for the masses, not the few. 
Reliable. Quality. Vibrant. Chilled-out. Welcoming. Spaces for you to feel at 
ease and at home. 

We are a concept inspired by the surrounding landscape and activity. 

We are stripped back and sympathetic to our environment, with a 
responsible, kind and friendly attitude.

We will also create many events throughout the year that will use local 
suppliers, create more jobs, build our reputation and be very profitable. 
This program of “internal” events will provide us with maximum benefit 
as opposed to the letting of our spaces to “external” companies. The 
events side of the business is something SHOL would hope to build up; 
providing infinite opportunities as the company grows.

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 9



Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan PAGE 12

Financial Summary
In line with the Council’s Full Business Case (FBC) for the CLAC project, 
published in February 2021, SHOL will provide circa £250,000 benefit to the 
shareholder per annum, by way of the subsidy being removed and other 
measures. Despite delays to the CLAC project, the objectives of that FBC 
remain unaltered, although this plan relates to the whole SHOL business, 
not just CLAC.

Projected Profit and Loss

Forecast 21-22 22-23 23-24 24-25

Net Profit / Loss (-) -£178,350 -£138,200 £2,100 £164,100

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 9



P
age 125

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 3 February 2022

Subject: Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Framework for 
Change 2020 - Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 
including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 
Budget - February Update

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Leader of the Council

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:
To inform Cabinet of: 
1. The current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget.
2. The current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget.
3. The current forecast on Council Tax and Business Rates collection for 2021/22. 
4. The monitoring position of the Council’s capital programme to the end of 

December 2021: 
 The forecast expenditure to year end.
 Variations against the approved budgets and an explanation of those 

variations for consideration by Members.
 Updates to spending profiles and proposed amendments to capital budgets 

necessary to ensure the efficient delivery of capital projects are also 
presented for approval.

Recommendation(s):
Cabinet is recommended to: 

Revenue Budget

1) Note the current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget 
together with the key issues that will influence the final position.

2) Note the current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget.
3) Recognise the financial risks associated with the delivery of the 2021/22 revenue 

budget and acknowledge that the forecast outturn position will continue to be 
reviewed to ensure a balanced forecast outturn position and financial 
sustainability can be achieved.

4) Note the Government grant funding that has been received to support the Council 
and businesses with the response to the pandemic, and which will be distributed 
in accordance with central government guidance, including the scheme across the 
Liverpool City Region, funded by Additional Restriction Grant, which will provide 

Page 127

Agenda Item 10



additional support to local businesses; 

Capital Programme

5) Note the spending profiles across financial years for the approved capital 
programme (paragraph 6.1).

6) Note the latest capital expenditure position as at 31 December 2021 of £20.786m 
(paragraph 6.4); the latest full year forecast is £41.882m (paragraph 6.6).

7) Note explanations of variances to project budgets (paragraph 6.7).
8) Note that a deed of variation is required relating to the grant funding agreement 

with the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority relating to a housing 
development in Netherton being undertaken by Sandway Homes Limited, and that 
the total amount of funding available is unaltered (paragraph 6.10).

9) Note that capital resources will be managed by the Executive Director Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services to ensure the capital programme remains fully 
funded and that capital funding arrangements secure the maximum financial 
benefit to the Council (paragraph 6.13).

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):
To ensure Cabinet are informed of the current position in relation to the 2021/22 revenue 
budget, including COVID19 pressures and additional funding being made available to the 
Council.   

To provide an updated forecast of the outturn position with regard to the collection of 
Council Tax and Business Rates.  

To keep members informed of the progress of the Capital Programme against the 
profiled budget for 2021/22 and agreed allocations for future years. 

To progress any changes that are required in order to maintain a relevant and accurate 
budget profile necessary for effective monitoring of the Capital Programme.

To approve any updates to funding resources so that they can be applied to capital 
schemes in the delivery of the Council’s overall capital strategy.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)
N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
The report indicates that for 2021/22 an underspend position of £1.946m is currently 
forecast but that mitigating actions may be required if the position subsequently moves to 
a deficit position.

(B) Capital Costs
The Council’s capital budget in 2021/22 is £41.907m. As at the end of December 2021 
expenditure of £20.786m has been incurred and a full year outturn of £41.882m is 
currently forecast.

Page 128

Agenda Item 10



Implications of the Proposals:
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out as follows:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
It is currently expected that an underspend position of £1.946m will be achieved for 
2021/22. However, it should be noted that significant pressure and risk remains in four 
key business areas, namely Children’s Social Care, Children with Disabilities, Education 
Excellence and Operational In-House Services. If these budgets experience further 
demand pressure during the remainder of the year corresponding savings may need to 
be identified.  If this cannot take place there may be a call on the Council’s General 
Balances.

Legal Implications:
None

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

N

The allocations of capital funding outlined in section 6 may be spent on projects that will 
have a high climate change impact as they could relate to new build, rebuild, 
refurbishment, retrofit and demolition proposals. Environmental consideration will be 
taken into account when specific projects are designed and tendered – which will help 
to mitigate negative impacts.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
Effective Financial Management and the development and delivery of sustainable annual 
budgets support each theme of the Councils Core Purpose.

Protect the most vulnerable:
See comment above

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
See comment above

Commission, broker and provide core services:
See comment above

Place – leadership and influencer:
See comment above

Page 129

Agenda Item 10



Drivers of change and reform:
See comment above

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
See comment above

Greater income for social investment: 
See comment above

Cleaner Greener:
See comment above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations
The Executive Director of Corporate Resources & Customer Services is the author of the 
report (FD 6672/22)

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has been consulted and has no comments on 
the report (LD 4872/22).

(B) External Consultations 
N/A

 
Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Paul Reilly
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4106
Email Address: paul.reilly@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendix is attached to this report: 

APPENDIX A – Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 130

Agenda Item 10



1. Introduction
 
1.1 In March 2021, Council approved the budget for 2021/22. This report provides an 

update on the forecast revenue outturn position for 2021/22, including the 
significant impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s 2021/22 budget.

1.2 The report also outlines the current position regarding key income streams for the 
Authority, namely Council Tax and Business Rates. Variations against expected 
receipts in these two areas will also affect the Council’s financial position in future 
years. 

1.3 The capital section of the report informs Members of the latest estimate of capital 
expenditure for 2021/22 and forecast expenditure for 2022/23 and 2023/24. The 
capital budget to date is presented in paragraph 6.1. Paragraphs 6.2 to 6.7 review 
progress of the capital programme. Finally, paragraphs 6.12 to 6.14 confirm that 
there are adequate levels of resources available to finance the capital programme.

2. Impact of COVID 19 on 2021/22 Budget
2.1 As part of the Council Budget Report presented to the Budget Council meeting in 

March, Members received details of the full range of financial issues that were 
being faced by the Council in 2021/22 arising from the pandemic, and how this cost 
would be funded.  A summary is shown below:

2021/22
£’m

Sales, Fees and Charges Income
Estimated Net Losses 1,500
Use of 2021/22 Emergency Funding -1.500

0.000

Collection Fund deficit in 2020/21 arising from COVID-19
Net losses after government compensation scheme 5.812
Collection Fund Surplus from 2019/20 -1.072

4.740

Collection Fund deficit re. 2021/22
Reduction in Council Tax Base 3.564
Council Tax Support Grant -3.471
Business Rates forecast losses 3.000

3.093

Temporary Mitigating Measures to Offset Council Tax / 
Business Rates Losses
Use of 2020/21 Emergency Funding * -5.500
Framework for Change 2020 – Council of 2023 Savings -0.890
School Closure Reserve -0.500
Use of 2021/22 Emergency Funding -0.943

-7.833

Net Impact on 2021/22 Budget 0.000
Page 131

Agenda Item 10



* Note that Cabinet on 4 November 2021 approved the use of additional Emergency Funding from 2020/21 
instead of utilising the Council’s General Balances (£1.000m from the 2020/21 underspend) and implementing 
a vacancy target across the Council that would require posts to be held vacant (£0.500m)

2.2 An update on the pressures is provided below:

Sales, Fees and Charges Income
2.3 There was a significant impact on income from sales, fees and charges for a range 

of services during 2020/21. Whilst some income streams temporarily recovered 
when lockdown was eased and would expect to do so again once we come out of 
the national lockdown, others are expected to remain impacted whilst measures are 
still in place for social distancing, etc.  

2.4 The government announced that the compensation scheme in place in 2020/21 to 
provide support for a proportion of losses would be extended until the end of June 
2021.  Therefore, an element of losses will be funded through the compensation 
scheme. The Council’s claim for April to June was £0.769m to partially compensate 
for losses in the period of £1.187m (excluding certain losses which couldn’t be 
included in the claim).

2.5 It is currently forecast that the loss of income in the year may be in the region of 
£3.400m.  After the claim for compensation in the first quarter of the year, the net 
loss is forecast to be £2.600m during 2021/22. This is an increase on the £1.5m 
assumed in the Budget Report.  This forecast will be reviewed during the remainder 
of the year as there is more experience of the impact on reopened facilities.  Any 
balance of losses not funded by the scheme will need to be covered from the 
emergency funding or the Contain Outbreak Management Fund received by the 
Council in 2021/22.  It is currently assumed that income levels may return to normal 
from 2022/23, however, this will continue to be assessed based on the experience 
once all restrictions are eased.  Any ongoing implications will need to be built into 
the three-year budget plan and potentially funded on a temporary basis if the 
impact isn’t considered permanent.

Collection Fund deficit in 2020/21 arising from COVID-19
2.6 The Council, in line with all other local authorities, is experiencing significant 

reductions in income from both Council Tax and Business Rates.  This relates to 
increases in households eligible to claim under the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
and some increases in Business Rates appeals as well as reductions in collection 
rates. 

2.7 The government announced financial support would be provided to offset 75% of 
irrecoverable losses.  However, Council Tax losses relating to non-collection aren’t 
eligible for compensation under the scheme, neither are adjustments relating to 
previous years.  The Budget Report estimated that net losses not covered by the 
scheme would therefore be up to £5.812m and would need to be funded.  The final 
deficit position for both Council Tax and Business Rates, along with the amount of 
financial support that has been claimed from the government, have now been 
finalised and has resulted in a net loss of £8.567m.  However, it is anticipated that 
some of these losses will be reversed in 2021/22 so the net impact will be within the 
£5.812m previously estimated.

Page 132

Agenda Item 10



Council Tax Base
2.8 The Council Tax Base is set by Council in January each year.  It reflects changes in 

the number of properties and the value of exemptions and discounts.  In recent 
years the Council Tax Base has increased steadily due to housing growth.  
However, due to the impact of COVID-19 on the number of CTRS claimants, the 
reduced collection rate and the slowdown in housing growth, there has been a 
significant reduction in the Base for 2021/22.  This reduced the Council Tax 
Requirement by £3.564m.  

2.9 The government announced additional funding to support the loss of income due to 
increased numbers of CTRS claimants.  Sefton’s allocation is £3.471m and will be 
used to offset the majority of reduced funding due to the decrease in the Council 
Tax Base.

2.10 Currently, the number of CTRS claimants hasn’t increased as forecast (this is 
mainly due to the government’s “furlough” scheme being extended which may have 
delayed any increase) and collection rates are slightly ahead of expectations.  If 
these factors continue then a surplus may be generated, although due to 
regulations this would only be credited to the Council in 2022/23.  Section 4 
highlights that currently a surplus of £2.714m is forecast (excluding the surplus from 
2020/2021).

Business Rates
2.11 Business Rates collection rates reduced in 2020/21 due to COVID-19 and are 

expected to remain lower than normal in 2021/22.  In addition, at the time of the 
Budget Report there were significant numbers of appeals in 2020/21 due to 
restrictions being in place. It was estimated that based on the 2020/21 position that 
£3.000m of the Council’s income will be at risk as businesses no longer exist or 
cannot afford to pay business rates.  

2.12 However, central government have announced that appeals relating to the 
implications of COVID19 won’t be allowed under amended regulations.  Therefore, 
it is forecast that the income now at risk is only £1.600m.

Summary
2.13 It should be noted that the figures included above will be subject to change and will 

continue to be reviewed on a monthly basis.  

Central Government Grant Programmes in Response to COVID-19 
2.14 As part of its role in responding to the pandemic, Central Government has 

requested that all councils administer a number of grant programmes that have 
been designed to support businesses.  

Omicron Hospitality and Leisure Grant
2.15 On 21 December 2021, the Government announced the introduction of grant 

support for hospitality and leisure businesses in England. The scheme provides 
support to hospitality, leisure and accommodation businesses, in recognition that 
the rise of the Omicron variant means that some businesses are likely to struggle 
until the end of the financial year.

2.16 Assistance will be given in the form of a grant payment which will be tied to 
Business rates liability and the rateable value (RV) of the business property.  These 

Page 133

Agenda Item 10



payments must be made in line with Government guidance.  However, the 
guidance states that the Council must run an application scheme, so this will need 
to be developed and applications reviewed before any payments can be made.

2.17 Grants will be payable in accordance with RV of the business property, as follows:
 £2,667 for properties with a RV up to and including £15,000
 £4,000 for properties with a RV of between £15,001 and £51,000
 £6,000 for properties with a RV greater than £51,000

Additional Restriction Grant
2.18 Also on 21 December 2021, the Government announced a further allocation of 

£100m of Additional Restriction Grant (ARG) in order to support other businesses 
that have been affected by the Omicron variant, such as those who supply the 
hospitality and leisure sectors.  Sefton’s allocation is £0.336m. 

2.19 Local Authorities will have discretion to allocate this funding to businesses most in 
need.  Previous allocations of ARG have been administered by the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority, with schemes being agreed across the whole of the 
Liverpool City Region (LCR).  A new scheme has been agreed that will distribute 
the funding in the shortest period of time to support those businesses most 
impacted by the Omicron variant that aren’t eligible for the Omicron Hospitality and 
Leisure Grant. This scheme has been approved in line with the Financial Procedure 
Rules.

Additional Adult Social Care Funding
2.20 The Government has announced an additional £60m of grant funding to help 

provide measures that support the COVID response in adult social care.  The 
funding is intended to support:

 Infection control measures including limiting staff movement, providing transport 
and accommodation, managing staff absences and self-isolation, and 
ventilation.

 Further use of Direct Payments if required to meet care needs.

2.21 The Government has yet to announce details of the allocations to individual local 
authorities but based on previous allocations of adult social care funding we would 
expect to receive in the region of £0.400m.  The specific utilisation of this funding 
will be approved in line with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules.

3. Revenue Budget 2021/22 – Forecast Outturn Position as at the end of 
December 2021
 

3.1 Members are provided with updates of the Council’s forecast financial revenue 
position each month during the financial year from July. 

3.2 In 2020/21, as in previous years, significant pressures were identified in several 
service areas at an early stage of the year, particularly Children’s Social Care, 
Communities (Children with Disabilities) Education Excellence (Home to School 
Transport) and Operational In-House Services. These pressures, and the 
unprecedented financial challenges faced by the Council in relation to COVID-19, 

Page 134

Agenda Item 10



meant the Council had to implement a remedial action plan. This was adopted to 
ensure a balanced budget position would be achieved.  In addition, a number of 
financial principles that had been implemented in previous years were also 
adopted.

3.3 In response to these pressures, Budget Council approved that additional resources 
be added to the 2021/22 budget for these services, with the amounts shown below:

Service Budget 
Pressure

£m

Children's Social Care – Placements & Packages 7.280
Communities – Children with Disabilities / PSR2 1.050
Education Excellence – Home to School Transport 1.100
Operational In-House Services – Security Force 0.350

9.780

3.4 However, as these are demand led services this will need to be carefully monitored 
during the year, with the biggest risk being the cost of Children’s Social Care – 
Placements and Packages.  Any pressures arising will need to be managed as it is 
still vital that the Council is able to achieve a balanced forecast outturn position for 
its normal activities, ignoring the impact of COVID-19 pressures.  Therefore, the 
approval of mitigating actions, and the adoption of financial principles used in 
previous years, may need to be implemented at some point during the remainder of 
the year. 

3.5 As at the end of December, the forecast outturn shows a net underspend of 
£1.946m. The table below highlights the variations:

Budget Forecast 
Outturn

Variance Variance 
to 

November 
Position

£m £m £m £m
Services
Strategic Management 4.002 4.030 0.028 0.001

Adult Social Care 97.874 96.220 -1.654 -0.344
Children's Social Care 47.282 48.724 1.442 0.034
Communities 17.024 15.982 -1.042 -0.660
Corporate Resources 4.236 4.132 -0.104 -0.060
Economic Growth & Housing 6.464 6.381 -0.083 0.029
Education Excellence 10.944 10.882 -0.062 0.048
Health & Wellbeing 18.715 18.097 -0.618 -0.088
Highways & Public Protection 11.152 10.963 -0.189 -0.023
Locality Services 13.740 13.916 0.176 0.116

Total Service Net 
Expenditure

231.433 229.327 -2.106 -0.947

Page 135

Agenda Item 10



3.6 The key areas relating to the outturn position are as follows:

 Adult Social Care – The current forecast assumes that the Adult Social Care 
budget will achieve a small surplus during 2021/22.  However, there are a number 
of significant assumptions and uncertainties as a result of COVID-19 that could 
impact on this position before the year-end.  

As part of the Demand Management Programme, savings of £3.300m were 
identified and delivered during 2020/21.  Work on the Programme is continuing, 
and further savings are being identified that will have a part-year impact in 2021/22 
and will therefore impact on the forecast outturn position.  The current forecast of 
these savings in 2021/22 is £1.416m.  Due to the significant assumptions and 
uncertainties within the forecast outturn position, only those savings achieved to 
date have been included in the forecast outturn position at this time. 

 Children’s Social Care – The current forecast shows a potential overspend of 
£3.256m.  However,  it is estimated that £1.814m of the overspend is attributable to 
the impact of COVID-19.  Therefore, as reported to Cabinet in July, these 
temporary costs will be met by the Contain Outbreak Management Fund.  The net 
overspend is therefore £1.442m.  This is as a result of some recent high cost cases 
and highlights the pressures that the budget can experience.  

However, as has been regularly reported over the last three years, the cost of 
Placements and Packages is the largest risk to the Council’s budget position.  The 
Council is currently working on developing a range of options to address the 
inherent demand and costs of Looked After Children whilst supporting the most 
vulnerable residents, but this budget remains under pressure and purely from a 
financial point of view this is likely to continue during this year and into the next 
financial year. 

At the Cabinet meeting in September a report highlighted the need for additional 
temporary and permanent staffing resources within the service.  The report 
forecasted that additional costs of potentially £2.008m could be incurred in 
2021/22, with £1.500m of these costs being funded from the reserve approved at 
July’s Cabinet meeting.  Any additional costs, relating to some of the temporary 
posts, would be funded from residual cost of change and new burdens funding 
received in 2020/21.  As these posts are fully funded from one-off resources, they 
aren’t included in the forecast outturn position.

Budget Pressure Fund 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.000
Council Wide Budgets -13.378 -13.218 0.160 0.040
Levies 34.568 34.568 0.000 0.000
General Government Grants (62.858) (62.858) 0.000 0.000

Total Net Expenditure 190.765 188.819

Forecast Year-End Deficit -1.946 -0.907

Page 136

Agenda Item 10



4. Council Tax Income – Update 
 
4.1 Council Tax income is shared between the billing authority (Sefton Council) and the 

three major precepting authorities (the Fire and Rescue Authority, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and the Combined Authority – Mayoral Precept) pro-rata to 
their demand on the Collection Fund. The Council’s Budget included a Council Tax 
Requirement of £143.037m for 2021/22 (including Parish Precepts), which 
represents 84.1% of the net Council Tax income of £170.167m. 

4.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of December 2021 is a surplus of -
£3.135m.  However, it should be noted that the Council Tax Base for 2021/22 was 
reduced to reflect lower collection rates and increased Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme claimants.  Therefore, this surplus is forecast in the context of a reduction 
in Council Tax income of £3.564m (see paragraph 2.7).  This variation is primarily 
due to: -

 The deficit on the fund at the end of 2020/21 being lower than estimated (-
£0.421m).

 
 Gross Council Tax Charges in 2021/22 being higher than estimated (-£1.238m). 

 Exemptions and Discounts (including a forecasting adjustment) being lower than 
estimated (-£1.476m).  

4.3 Due to Collection Fund regulations, the Council Tax surplus will not be transferred 
to the General Fund in 2021/22 but will be carried forward to be recovered in future 
years.

4.4 A forecast deficit of £5.179m was declared on the 21 January 2021 of which 
Sefton’s share is £4.355m (84.1%).  This is the amount that will be recovered from 
the Collection Fund in 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24.  Any additional surplus or 
deficit will be distributed in 2022/23 and future years.

5. Business Rates Income – Update 
 
5.1 Since 1 April 2017, Business Rates income has been shared between the Council 

(99%) and the Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). The Council’s Budget included 
retained Business Rates income of £67.919m for 2021/22, which represents 99% of 
the net Business Rates income of £68.606m. Business Rates income has 
historically been very volatile making it difficult to forecast accurately. 

5.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of December 2021 is a deficit of                        
£25.207m on Business Rates income. This is due to:

 The deficit on the fund at the end of 2021/22 being higher than estimated 
(+£3.467m).

 Decrease in the gross charge on rateable properties (+£0.928m).
 A number of additional reliefs were announced after January 2021 to support 

businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic. These include expanded retail 

Page 137

Agenda Item 10



discount, pub relief, newspaper relief, and private nursery relief. The loss of 
income as a result of these reliefs will be covered by Section 31 grant payments. 
Due to the timing of these announcements the impact of these reliefs could not 
be incorporated into the budget figures reported in the NNDR1 return 
(+£20.812m).

5.3 When taking into account the additional Section 31 grants due on the additional 
reliefs, a net deficit of £4.204m is forecast.  

5.4 Due to Collection Fund regulations, a Business Rates deficit will not be transferred 
to the General Fund in 2021/22 but will be carried forward to be recovered in future 
years.  

5.5 A forecast deficit of £39.206m was declared in January 2021.  Sefton’s share of this 
is £38.814m.  This is the amount that will be distributed from the Collection Fund in 
2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24. Any additional surplus or deficit will be distributed in 
2022/23 and future years.

6. Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2023/24

Capital Budget
6.1 The Capital Budget and profile of expenditure for the three years 2021/22 to 

2023/24 is as follows:

6.2 A number of significant updates have been made to the capital programme budget 
since the previous report to Cabinet in December and these are listed below. 
Individual schemes are kept under review as the year progresses and it is not 
uncommon for spending to be reprofiled into future years as capacity to deliver and 
other external factors such as contractor performance and the availability of 
materials impacts the rate of delivery.

 Adult Social Care
- The rate of delivery for Disabled Facilities Grants continues to improve. An 

additional £0.152m has therefore been phased from 2022/23 to 2021/22 for 
the increase in forecast spend in the current year.

- £0.150m has been phased from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for Care Home 
Improvements for further exploration of projects to support demand 
management.

- £0.860m for the Short-Term Assessment Unit has been phased to 2022/23 
due to delays in the planning process. The project is now anticipated to 
commence on site next financial year.

- £0.060m for delivery of Technology Enabled Care Equipment has been 
phased from 2021/22 to 2022/23.

2021/22 £41.907m
2022/23 £29.966m
2023/24 £8.793m

Page 138

Agenda Item 10



 Corporate Resources
- The has been an extension to the time granted by BEIS to deliver the Green 

Homes Grant Local Delivery scheme to June 2022 as many Local Authorities 
have struggled in procuring retrofit coordinators/assessors and there has 
been a shortage of skilled labour and materials. £0.860m has therefore be 
phased to 2022/23.

- £0.272m has been phased into 2022/23 for Essential Maintenance schemes 
to allow time for the programming of works on larger value schemes.

 Economic Growth & Housing
- £0.244m has been phased from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for the Enterprise 

Arcade project to allow time for business case finalisation and procurement 
lead in time.

- £0.124m has be rephased from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for installation of steps as 
part of the final phase of the Southport Pier Project.

- £0.050m has been phased to 2022/23 for the Strand Business Plan.

 Education Excellence - £0.108m has be rephased from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for 
a replacement wiring scheme at Kings Meadow Primary.

 Operational In-House Services 
- £0.088m has been added to the programme under delegated authority for the 

Urban Tree Challenge Fund spread over 2021/22 to 2024/25 financial years.
- £0.080m for Ainsdale Coastal Gateway has been rephased from 2021/22 to 

2022/23.

6.3 Authority has been delegated within the Financial Procedure Rules to Cabinet 
Member in conjunction with Head of Service to assign funding to individual 
schemes within the Capital Programme from the block allocations approved by 
Council. A broader review of the individual 2021/22 Highways and Adult Social 
Care budgets is also currently underway, and it is anticipated that a revised position 
will be reported to Cabinet Members for approval and presented on future budget 
updates to Cabinet.

Budget Monitoring Position to December 2021
6.4 The current position of expenditure against the budget profile to the end of 

December 2021 is shown in the table below. It should be noted that budgets are 
profiled dependent upon the timing of when works are to be carried out and the 
anticipated spend over the financial year. For example, Education Excellence will 
typically carry out most of its capital works during key school’s holiday periods such 
as the summer recess, whilst Highways and Public Protection will complete most of 
its programmed works during quarters two and four of the financial year. The 
budget to date in the table below reflects the profiles of each individual scheme.

Service Area
Budget to 

Dec-21

Actual 
Expenditure 

to Dec-21
Variance to 

Dec-21
£m £m £m

Adult Social Care 2.455 2.723 0.268
Children’s Social Care 0.025 0.025 -

Page 139

Agenda Item 10



Communities 0.799 0.753 -0.045
Corporate Resources 0.532 0.547 0.015
Economic Growth & Housing 2.864 2.623 -0.241
Education Excellence 3.257 3.157 -0.100
Highways & Public Protection 4.430 4.515 0.085
Operational In-House Services 6.428 6.443 0.015

Total Programme 20.790 20.786 -0.004

6.5 An overspend of £0.268m has occurred on the Adult Social Care budget in 
December. As mentioned in paragraph 2.2 (above), this is due to improved delivery 
on Disabled Facilities Grants and reallocation of budget from 2022/23 has been 
undertaken to meet the extra forecast spend by year end. It should also be noted 
that Community Equipment is also being ordered in large amounts in advance due 
to scarcity of products and unreliable delivery dates from suppliers, hence spend in 
this area is ahead of the budget profile.

6.6 An underspend of £0.241m has occurred in the Economic Growth & Housing 
budget compared to the profile to the end of December. This is largely due to a 
project delay from the Crosby Lakeside Redevelopment. As a result of the failure of 
the main contractor to progress the redevelopment works regularly and diligently 
their employment was terminated in November 2021. Retendering of the contract is 
now underway and revised completion and cost schedules will be reported as soon 
as possible. The spend profile is expected to include some spend slipping into Q1 
2022/23.

Capital Programme Forecast Outturn 2021/22
6.7 The current forecast of expenditure against the budget profile to the end of 2021/22 

and the profile of budgets for future years is shown in the table below:

Service Area

Full Year 
Budget 
2021/22

Forecast 
Out-turn

Variance 
to 

Budget

Full Year 
Budget 
2022/23

Full Year 
Budget 
2023/24

£m £m £m £m £m

Adult Social Care 4.120 4.109 -0.011 4.426 1.624

Children’s Social Care 0.100 0.100 - - -

Communities 1.368 1.367 -0.001 1.776 0.090

Corporate Resources 3.130 3.130 - 3.357 -

Economic Growth & Housing 8.125 8.127 0.002 4.449 0.135

Education Excellence 4.557 4.545 -0.012 4.947 2.147

Highways & Public Protection 12.965 12.965 - 3.742 3.605

Operational In-House Services 7.542 7.539 -0.003 7.269 1.191

Total Programme 41.907 41.882 -0.025 29.966 8.793

A full list of the capital programme by capital scheme is at appendix A.

Page 140

Agenda Item 10



6.8 The current 2021/22 budgeted spend is £41.907m with a budgeted spend to 
December of £20.790m. The full year budget includes exceptional items such as 
£5.543m for vehicle replacement, £1.040m for Green Homes Local Delivery, 
£1.050m Brownfield Fund for Housing Development, £7.053m for Growth and 
Strategic Investment projects, previously approved amounts for essential repairs 
and maintenance (£1.671m), a scheme to upgrade to LED Street Lighting 
(£1.548m), and a leisure scheme for improvements to an existing football pitch 
(£0.250m).

6.9 Typically, on an annual basis the capital programme spends in the region of £25m. 
As mentioned in paragraph 6.2 (above) it is likely that reprofiling of spend into 
2022/23 will therefore occur as the year progresses.

Brownfield Fund for Housing Development
6.10 Budget Council on 4 March 2021 approved a Supplementary Capital Estimate of 

£1.050m relating to a bid from the Brownfield Development Fund administered by 
the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. This bid was to enable the Council’s 
housing development company, Sandway Homes Limited, to bring forward a 
development in Netherton.  The Council would act as the accountable body, with 
funding being transferred to Sandway Homes Limited to complete the works in 
accordance with the grant funding agreement.

6.11 As there has been a change to the proposed development, a deed of variation to 
the grant funding agreement has been agreed to reflect this.  However, the total 
amount of funding available has not changed.

Programme Funding
6.12 The table below shows how the capital programme will be funding in 2021/22:

Source £m
Grants 29.653
Contributions (incl. Section 106) 0.627
Capital Receipts 3.129
Prudential Borrowing 8.498
Total Programme Funding 41.907

6.13 The programme is reviewed on an ongoing basis to confirm the capital resources 
required to finance capital expenditure are in place, the future years programme is 
fully funded, and the level of prudential borrowing remains affordable.

6.14 The Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services will continue 
to manage the financing of the programme to ensure the final capital funding 
arrangements secure the maximum financial benefit to the Council.

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



APPENDIX A – Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24

Budget
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24Capital Project

£ £ £
Adult Social Care    

Care Homes - Fire Alarms & Emergency Lighting 98,310  -  - 
Core DFG Programme 1,353,422 120,144  - 
Wider Social Care Programme 2,668,089 4,305,902 1,623,750

Children’s Social Care    

Support for Fostering Placements 100,000 - -

Communities    

Dunes Splashworld – Essential Repairs 1,014,700 292,704 81,470
Litherland Sports Park – 3G Pitch & Lighting 250,000 - -

Orrell Mount Sports Hub 14,557 1,203,886 -

Libraries - Centres of Excellence 20,000 279,301  - 
S106 - Netherton & Orrell – Abbeyfield Park 11,942  -  - 
S106 - Linacre - Strand Living Wall 10,665  -  - 
S106 - Sudell – Moorhey Shops Parking Scheme 16,625 - -
S106 - Ford – Stanton Avenue One Way System - - 9,000
S106 - Litherland – Play Equip Orrell Mount 30,000 - -

Corporate Resources    

Council Wide Essential Maintenance 559,330 1,749,000 -
STCC Essential Maintenance     37,680 50,000  - 
Victoria Baths Essential Works 58,974 80,000  - 
Bootle & Southport Town Hall Retrofit Energy 
Saving 788,087  -  - 

Green Homes Grant Local Delivery Scheme 1,040,000 860,000 -
Public Sector Reform 645,857 618,480  - 

Economic Growth & Housing    

Strategic Acquisitions - Bootle 434,473 - -
The Strand Business Plan 70,000 590,000 135,000
Cambridge Road Centre Development 722,952 72171 -
Crosby Lakeside Development 2,791,997 - -

Town Centre Commission Bootle Canal Side 290,000 - -

Southport Market Redevelopment 813,938 20,039  - 
Marine Lake Events Centre 1,624,106 2,470,894 -
Enterprise Arcade 6,000 244,000 -
Strategic Acquisitions - Ainsdale 299,500 891,859  - 
Housing Investment 15,188 36,180  - 
Brownfield Fund for Housing Development 1,050,000  -  - 
Southport Pier Project 6,769  124,117  - 

Page 142

Agenda Item 10



2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

Education Excellence    

Healthy Pupils Fund 1,486  -  - 
Schools Programme 3,179,638 4,304,359 2,146,957
Planned Maintenance 430,982 187,043 -
Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 944,750 455,142 -

Highways and Public Protection    

Accessibility 1,088,000 - -
Completing Schemes/Retentions 40,000 - -
Healthy Lifestyles 1,100,000 - -
Road Safety 120,000 - -
A565 Route Management and Parking 1,825,000 - -
A59 Route Management Strategy 190,000 - -
Strategic Planning 983,292 - -
Traffic Management and Parking 60,000 - -
Active Travel 1,093,314 - -
Highway Maintenance 3,909,928 - -
Bridges & Structures 300,000 - -
Drainage 150,000 - -
Street Lighting 1,848,000 3,742,035 3,605,580
UTC Maintenance 60,000 - -
Major Transport Schemes 197,000 - -

Operational In-House Services    

Burials & Cremation Insourcing - Vehicles & Equip 90,663  -  - 
Formby Strategic Flood Risk Management Prog. - 43,851 -
Merseyside Groundwater Study 11,508 20,000  - 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Prog. 2016-2021 391,654 -        - 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Prog. 2022-2026 552,068 1,016,932 1,058,000
The Pool & Nile Watercourses 49,410 74,711  - 
Crosby Flood & Coastal Scheme 57,219 763,261      - 
Hall Road & Alt Training Bank - Rock Armour - 45,775  - 
Ainsdale & Birkdale Land Drainage Scheme 25,973  -  - 
Surface Water Management Plan 40,200 59,245  - 
Surface Water Modelling & Mapping 13,601  -  - 
Small Watercourse Works 7,638 - -
Water Level Monitoring Pilot 18,000 - -
Parks Schemes 50,259 264,535  - 
Tree Planting Programme 83,543 146,552 19,769 
Golf Driving Range Developments 398,822 280,280  - 
Ainsdale Coastal Gateway 31,050 320,488 -
Crosby Marine Lake Improvements – Phase 1 155,000 - -

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

Litter Bin Infrastructure 22,358 - -
Green Sefton – Plant & Machinery - 131,152 -
Vehicle Replacement Programme 5,543,468 1,736,762 113,000
Wheeled Bins - 2,365,000 -

TOTAL PROGRAMME 41,906,985 29,965,800 8,792,526

Page 144

Agenda Item 10


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 St Teresa's Catholic Infant School - Outcome of Consultation
	Annex  A for St Teresa's Catholic Infant School - Outcome of Consultation
	Annex B for St Teresa's Catholic Infant School - Outcome of Consultation

	5 Sacred Heart Catholic Secondary School - Approval of Legal Documentation for Academy Conversion
	6 Children and Young Peoples Sefton Pseudo Dynamic Purchasing System
	7 Sefton High Need Funding Allocation 2022/23 Update
	8 Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and Business Plan
	Enc. 2 for Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management strategy and business plan
	1. Introduction 
	2. National & Local Integration
	3. Funding
	4. FCERM Actions
	5. Summary of Projects

	Enc. 1 for Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management strategy and business plan
	1 	Introduction
	1.1	�What is a Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy?
	1.2	Legislative Context
	1.2.1	�National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England (2020)
	1.2.2	North West Regional Flood & Coastal Committee Business Plan
	1.2.3	�Merseyside Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Partnership Business Plan
	1.2.4	Sefton’s 2030 Vision
	1.3.1	What is Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk?
	1.3.2	Who is Responsible?
	1.3.3	A Joint Approach to Managing Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk


	2	Flood and Coastal Erosion in Sefton
	2.1	Sefton’s Recent History of Flooding and Erosion
	2.2	Challenges to Risk Management in Sefton

	3	Future Ambitions for Sefton
	4	Potential Funding Sources
	5	Monitor and Review
	6	Wider Environmental Context
	7	Useful Links


	9 Sefton Hospitality Operations Limited - Business Plan
	FD 6670 - Annex

	10 Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Framework for Change 2020 - Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget - February Update

